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Up Front / Avant-propos

Sandy Smith, President of ESC / Présidente de la SEC

ur Executive Meeting in April marked
Ohe half-way point of my term as Pre-

sident. The knowledge and enthusiasm
of those who help with the day-to-day opera-
tions of this Society continue to impress me and
I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all
for their support.

Since my last report, | am pleased to say that
we havefilled three vacant committee chairsfor
the Society, and are closing in on apotential new
Editor for The Canadian Entomologist. New
committeechairsinclude: 1) Allan Carroll, Chair
of the Publications Committee, Pacific Forestry
Centre, Canadian Forestry Service, Victoria,
British Columbia; 2) Noubar J. Bostanian, Chair
of the Fund Raising Committee, Horticultural
Research and Development Centre, Agriculture
and Agri-Food Canada, Saint-Jean-sur-Richel-
ieu, Quebec; and 3) Patrice Bouchard, Chair of
the Finance Committee, Agriculture and Agri-
Food Canada, Ottawa, Ontario. Many thanksto
all three for being willing to put their energy
towards Society tasks over the next few years.

A few issues came out of the Executive Meet-
ing in April. First, while we remain in sound fi-
nancial standing, thereisaclear need to reduce
the costs of publishing to maintain a balanced
budget into the future. An increase in fees for
institutional subscribers is being recommended
along with an examination as to whether publi-
cation costs for the Bulletin can be reduced. In
keeping with this, the decision was taken at the
spring Executive Meeting to reducethe size (and
cost) of the December Bulletin by posting the
minutes and full reports of the October Board
Meeting on our web site only, with hardcopy
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tenue en avril a coincidé avec la moitié

de mon mandat en tant que présidente.
Les connaissances et I’ enthousiasme des gens
qui s occupent des opérations de la Société sur
une base journaliere continuent a
m’impressionner. Je voudrais sincérement les
remercier de leur aide.

Je suis heureuse de vous annoncer que trois
postes vacants de Présidents de Comités ont été
comblés depuis mon dernier rapport et que nous
avons trouvé un nouveau Rédacteur en chef po-
tentiel pour The Canadian Entomologist. Les
nouveaux présidents de comitéssont : 1) Allan
Carroll, Président du Comité de publication,
Centre de foresterie du Pacifique, Service cana-
dien des foréts, Victoria (CB); 2) Noubar J.
Bostanian, Président du Comité de levée de
fonds, Centre de recherche et de dével oppement
en horticulture, Agriculture et Agroalimentaire
Canada, Saint-Jean-sur-Richelieu (Québec); et
3) Patrice Bouchard, Président du Comité des
finances, Agriculture et Agroalimentaire Cana-
da,, Ottawa (Ontario). Merci beaucoup a vous
trois d’investir votre énergie dans les taches de
la Société pour les quelques années a venir.

Quelques questions ont été discutées lors de
la derniére réunion du conseil d’ administration
en avril. Premiérement, bien que la Société de-
meure dans un bon état financier, il est clair que
I’ on doit réduire les colits de publication afin de
maintenir un équilibre budgétaire along terme.
Uneaugmentation du codt del’ abonnement pour
les institutions a été recommandée, ainsi que la
possibilité deréduireles colts de publication du
Bulletin. Conformément acette ligne de pensée,
nous avons décidé lors de laréunion printaniére
du Conseil d’administration de réduire lataille
(et le colt) du Bulletin de décembre en affichant
les proces-verbaux et les rapports complets de
la réunion d octobre du Conseil sur notre site
Internet, seulement. Vous pouvez obtenir une
copie papier en faisant une demande par écrit au
bureau de la SEC.

Deuxiemement, laversion électroniquede The
Canadian Entomol ogist semble aller rondement

I a réunion du conseil d’administration
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access by written request to the ESC office.

Second, electronic publishing of The Cana-
dian Entomologist appears to be going smooth-
ly with only minor glitches in some things such
asnon-recognition of diacritic marks. Thesewill
hopefully be worked out soon with the Editor-
in-Chief and NRC. And third, the Executive has
decided to leave past copyrights for papers in
the journal with their authors (or estates) and
not to make legal changes with this status.

| see that the first notice of the Annual Meet-
ing in November 2003, organized by the Ento-
mological Society of British Columbiain Kel-
owna, has been sent out and it looks to be very
exciting. The Achievement Awards Committee,
chaired by Charles Vincent, has already made
their selection for awardsthisyear, with the Gold
Medal going to Hugh Danks, the Hewitt to
Heather Proctor, and the Criddle to R. Kenner.
J.T. Arnason has also been recommended as a
Fellow of the Society this year. | am looking
forward to seeing you at thefall meeting to con-
gratulate the awardees personally.

On afinal note, | would like to draw your at-
tention to the work carried on by a major sub-
committee of the ESC, the Biological Survey of
Canada (Terrestria Arthropods). Two weeksago,
| had the pleasure of attending one of their meet-
ings on behalf of the Society, and while | had
personally been aware of their activitiesasare-
cipient of their regular newdletter, | had never
appreciated the significant role that our Society
played in their formation nor the extent of their
activity. Almost 20 years old, the Survey now
has close association with the Canadian Muse-
um of Nature. Over 15 membersfrom acrossthe
country meet twice a year in Ottawa to provide
update status and set scientific priorities for the
study of Canadian arthropod fauna and biodi-
versity throughout the entire range of our eco-
systems; arctic, grasslands, forests, wetlandsand
freshwater. As such, they contribute to signifi-
cant advancesin the study of arthropodsin Can-
ada and represent major ambassadors for ento-
mology worldwide. If you haven't already, please
take a look at their website (http://
www.biology.ual berta.ca/bsc/bschome.htm) and

avec seulement quel ques problemes mineurstels
gue la non-reconnaissance des signes diacri-
tiques. Ce probleme serarapidement corrigé, on
I’ espére, grace a I’ effort du Rédacteur-en-chef
et aRNC. Troisiemement, le conseil adécidé de
laisser les droits d'auteur des articles déja pub-
liés dans le journal aux auteurs (ou patrimoine)
et de ne pas faire de changements | égaux.

J al vu quelepremier avisde convocation pour
le Congrés annuel de novembre 2003, organisé
par la Société d’ entomol ogie de Colombie-Bri-
tannique a Kelowna, a été envoyé. Cela semble
trés enlevant. Le Comité des prix d’ excellence,
présidé par CharlesVincent, adéjafait son choix
des récipiendaires de cette année. La Médaille
d'or iraaHugh Danks, le Prix Hewitt aHeather
Proctor et le Prix Criddle aR. Kenner. J.T. Ar-
nason aaussi été propose pour devenir Membre
associé de la Société. J attends avec impatience
notrerencontre prochaineau Congresd’ automne
pour féliciter cesrécipiendaires personnellement.

Finalement, je voudrais attirer votre attention
sur le travail fait par un sous-comité majeur de
la SEC, la Commission biologique du Canada
(Arthropodes terrestres). 11 y a deux semaines,
j'a euleplaisir d assister al’une deleursréun-
ions pour le compte de la Société, et bien queje
sois personnellement au fait de leurs activités
par le biais de leur bulletin de liaison, je n'ai
jamais apprécié pleinement le rdle significatif
gue notre Société a joué dans leur formation ni
I"ampleur deleur activité. Ayant presque 20 ans,
la Commission est maintenant en association
étroite avec le Musée canadien delanature. Plus
de 15 membres de partout au Canada se rencon-
trent deux fois par année a Ottawa pour faire
unemiseajour et déterminer les priorités scien-
tifiques pour I’ étude des arthropodes canadiens
et labiodiversité danstous|es écosystémes : arc-
tique, prairie, forét, zones humides et eaux douc-
es. Decefait, ilscontribuent al’ avancement sig-
nificatif de I’ éude des arthropodes du Canada
et sont des ambassadeurs majeurs de
I’entomologie a travers le monde. Si vous ne
I’ avez pas encorefait, jetez un coup d’ adl aleur
siteInternet (http://www.biol ogy.ual berta.calbsc/
bschome.htm) et prenez lapleinemesuredeleurs
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get areal senseasto what are some of their great
accomplishments supported through your Soci-
ety.

In closing, | think you can see for yourself
with this issue that our new Editor, Paul Fields,
has very ambitious plansfor the Bulletin. | wel-
come hisnew direction and hope you will take a
few minutesto think about specific contributions
you can make to the Bulletin, and in that way,
add to the value of being an ESC member.

grandes réalisations soutenues par notre Société.

En conclusion, vous pouvez voir par vous-
méme avec ce numéro que notre nouveau rédac-
teur, Paul Fields, ades planstrés ambitieux pour
le Bulletin. Je me réouis de cette nouvelle di-
rection et j’ espére que vous prendrez quelques
minutes pour penser a la contribution spéciale
gue vous pourriez faire au Bulletin, et de cefait,
gjouter alavaleur d' étre un membre dela SEC.

Meeting Announcements / Réunions futures

63 Annual Meeting of Acadian Entomological Society and Maine Entomological Society

Bar Harbor, Maine, USA, 22-24 June 2003

andrei.alyokhin@umit.maine.edu, http://www.upei.ca/~aes/2003meeting.htm

54" Annual Meeting of the Lepidopterists Society
Olds College, Olds, Alberta, Canada, 23-27 July 2003
felix.sperling@ual berta.ca, http://alpha.furman.edu/~snyder/snyder/lep/meet.htm

Il International Congress of Coleopterology

Prague, Czech Republic, 14 - 21 Sept 2003

http://www.col eocongress2003.cz/

51¢ Annual Meeting of the Entomological Society of Alberta
Athabasca University, Athabasca, Alberta, Canada, 2-4 October 2003
robert@athabascau.ca, http://www.biol ogy.ualberta.ca/courses.hp/esa/esa?2003.htm

59th Annual Meeting of the Entomological Society of Manitoba

Winnipeg, MB, 24-25 October 2003

iranpour@ms.umanitoba.ca, http://home.cc.umanitoba.ca/esm/meet.html

51¢ Annual Meeting of the Entomological Society of America
Cincinnati, Ohio, USA, 26-29 October 2003
http://www.entsoc.org/annual_meeting/2003/index.html

The XV International Plant Protection Congress,
Beijing, China, Postponed until 11-16 May 2004.

E-mail: ippc2003@ipmchina.net

Web page: http://www.ipmchina.net/ippc/ippcwel come.html

22" | nternational Congress of Entomology
Brishane, Australia, 15-21 August 2004
http://www.ccm.com.au/icoe/index.html
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Gold Medal Address / Allocution du médaillé d'or ——
By Robert Lamb

What is entomology?

eceiving the Gold Medal of the Ent-
Romol ogical Society of Canadais a spe-

cial honour. For me it represents ac-
knowledgement by peers, entomologists who
know my work, entomologists | respect. That
the presentation is occurring hereis particularly
gratifying, because | can publically thank my
Winnipeg colleagues who went to the effort of
preparing the nomination. Of course the Gold
Medal will be a great pleasure to possess, but
the opportunity to present the Gold Medal Ad-

P. MacKay

Bernie Roitberg (left) presenting Gold
Medal to Bob Lamb, 6 October 2002, Win-

nipeg

68

dressis perhaps a more valuable award. Prepar-
ing this address provided an opportunity to think
about my career, and ask: what sort of entomol-
ogist have | become, what have | accomplished,
what has been left undone? Fortunately, thetime
isshort and so | can quickly pass over the warty
parts of my career, such as: the never-ending
struggle to write scientific papers well; the rec-
ognition that learning from others might be more
valuable than focusing on my own work; learn-
ing to keep tidy and complete experimental
records. Many of you have assisted by review-
ing my papers for The Canadian Entomologist,
and your contribution is much appreciated. |
want also to acknowledge that much of my en-
tomology has been a collaboration with col-
leagues, with graduate students at the Universi-
ty of Manitoba, and with a particular colleague,
Pat MacK ay, who has contributed more than she
thinks to most aspects of my work.

In assessing my entomological career, | spent

Bob Lamb is a Research Scientist at Agricul-
ture and Agri-Food Canada’'s Cereal Research
Centre in Winnipeg, Manitoba. He became in-
terested ininsects as a teenager in Toronto. His
research focuses on the ecology of aphids, flea
beetles and more recently wheat midge. Con-
tact information: 195 Dafoe Rd., Winnipeg, MB

R3T 2M9, rlamb@agr.gc.ca.
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sometime thinking about therel ative importance
of applied and basic research, but soon found
the apparent dichotomy irrelevant. | realized that
| want to ask a broader question: What is ento-
mology? Of course entomology is the study of
insects, but that answer only tells us the subject
matter, which we all know. In my view, five hu-
man activities define our joint endeavour. Ento-
mology is: an aesthetic experience, natural his-
tory, a craft, engineering, and a science. | am
convinced that no one of these is more or less
important than the others. Let me provideasim-
ple definition of each, and then illustrate with
an example.

R. Lamb

Figure 1. Mantids carved from stone decorate

a Chinese signature stamp.
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Entomology as an aesthetic

experience

The use of insects as subjects for artistic
expression. | suspect that the morphological
intricacy of insects, and variation in shape and
colour, provide motivation for our study. Rep-
resenting favourite insects as drawingsin tax-
onomic studies, or as figures or photographic
images in publications continues to stimulate
our work. You might respond that, “As com-
municating professionals we need to produce
imagesof our research materia”. | would coun-
ter with the suggestion that aesthetic experi-
ence comes first and demands an outlet; per-
haps using the images of insects in our work
often is only an excuse to justify the expres-
sion of repressed artistic tendencies. As evi-
dence | offer the observation that many non-
entomologists take stimulus from insects to
produce art. The proof isin the Art Show con-
ducted in association with this meeting. Other
examplesinclude the amazing representations
of insects on stamps, particularly those from
some African and Asian countries. One par-
ticular example that appeals to me is a stone
carving by an unknown Chinese artist, who
used apair of combative mantidsto decoratea
“Chop” or signature stamp (Fig. 1). | now rec-
ognize how important the aesthetic experience
of insects has been to me. In hindsight | sus-
pect my entomol ogical work would have been
better if | had expressed it more artfully.
Natural history

Experience of the natural world through
cataloguing thediversity of lifeand the day
today activitiesof livingthings. Put thisway,
natural history is clearly a stimulusfor taxon-
omy. This conclusion does not imply that as-
pects of taxonomy are not also scientific. Nev-
ertheless, | suspect that special something that
makes afine taxonomist isthe same thing that
makes afine natural historian. Natural history
also provides motivation for much ecology.
This fascination with living things and their
habitsis probably most clearly exemplified by
the widely popular pastime of birding, but in-
sect watching also seems to be gaining popu-

Volume 35(2), juin 2003

Figure 2. A colony of the native aphid,
Uroleucon rudbeckiae, in its natural habi-
tat, with three eggs of a predatory fly
(Syrphidae) and a parasitoid (Hymenop-
tera) approaching.

larity with some North Americans. Natural his-
tory of insects is closely related to the idea of
entomology as an aesthetic experience. At one
time the natural historian would record their in-
sect subjects on paper in water colours. Now,
most of ususe acamera. How many of you have
a store of insect photographs that capture alife
history event, or simply fix the image of an in-
sect in it’s natural environment?

The example of insect natural history that |
want to share with you is a project Pat MacKay
and | are conducting on anative aphid, probably
Uroleucon rudbeckiae (Fitch) (Homoptera:
Aphididae), that lives on tall coneflower, Rud-
beckia laciniata (Asteraceae) (Fig. 2). We be-
gan watching this aphid in our garden seven or
eight years ago. We now keep track of the com-
ings and goings of the aphid, aswell asits para-
sitoidsand predators, on aweekly and often daily
basisin our garden. This obsession includestwo
extended field tripsto Riding Mountain Nation-
a Park during our holidays. What we have done
iswatch, collect, and catal ogue, obliviousto any
central scientific question. We have becomewell
acquainted with thelife history of thisaphid and
thesurprisingly large community associated with

Bulletin de la Société d'entomologie du Canada 69
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it, but this knowledge has come from a disor-
ganized integration of casual observations. We
had no immediate objective other than the en-
joyment provided by observing this communi-
ty. The project is now drifting towards ecol ogi-
cal research, although | suspect it'svalue, if any,
will be in the summary we produce of the natu-
ral history of this system. | am sure also that the
scientific questions that evolve will be interest-
ing to the extent that they reflect the reality of
the interactions among species, as revealed by
our natural history observations. Yearsago | re-
member arguing that the way to do entomology
is to identify an important scientific question,
choose a suitable research organism, and pro-
ceed to answer the question. | now believe that
approach is backward, scientific questions will
mostly grow out of a deep understanding of the
natural history of insects.
Craft

The activity of combining physical entities
or processes in a way that makes a useful
product. The simplest way to explain what |
mean isto provide an example. | have chosen a

R. Sims

Figure 3. A sticky trap used to monitor
wheat midges, Sitodiplosis mosellana, in
wheat, showing trapped adults circled in
black.

Bulletin of the Entomological Society of Canada

monitoring system for wheat midge, Sitodiplo-
sismosellana (Géhin) (Diptera: Cecidomyidage).
A group of uswanted to help farmers make con-
trol decisions (Lamb et al. 2002). We took what
we know about the life history of the wheat
midge, put that together with agronomic prac-
tices and decision making processes, and came
up with atool that farmers can use to estimate
wheat midge densitiesin relation to an econom-
ic threshold. | won’t go into a lot of detail, be-
cause the method is simple. Farmers put 10
spaced, sticky trapsin afield at the crop stage
when female midgesbeginto lay eggs. Thetraps
are fastened to stakes at the height of the wheat
spikes where females oviposit, left exposed for
three nights, collected, and examined (Fig. 3). If
four or more midges occur on the 10 traps then
farmers are economically justified in applying
insecticide; if three or fewer are present they
probably should not spray. Using the method for
threeyearsin commercial wheat fields, wefound
that farmers make correct decisions 70-80% of
thetime. Previously, farmershad no reliable way
to determine whether or not they should apply
insecticideto millionsof hectares. | find it amaz-
ing that such a simple, small scale sampling
method could usefully assessinsect densitiesin
such alarge habitat, but it works.
Thisisentomological craft becausethereisa
useful product, that depends onintegrating com-
ponents of a system in an effective way. In this
case the critical components are the height at
which traps operate, and the duration of thetrap-
ping period, which allows time for farmers to
act on theinformation provided by thetraps. The
sticky traps are cheap and readily available, and
the whole process can probably be carried out
by afarmer in 1-2 hours per field. The number
of traps was selected not based on any under-
standing of insect distribution, but on the number
of traps we thought farmers would be willing to
handle. The sampling method has almost no sci-
entific content and would not provide a precise
sampling tool for researchers, but it is effective
for the purpose intended. Entomological craft
comesfrom abreadth of experiencewith insects
and the ways they interact with their environ-

Volume 35(2), June 2003
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ment. Entomological craft need not have acom-
mercia application. Inthat first year or twowhen
graduate students are floundering in devel oping
their research projects, they may not be floun-
dering at all but learning their craft. Most ento-
mological research would fail without a large
messure of craft.
Engineering

Theapplication of scientific principlesand
statistical methodsin the creation of a useful
processor product. Like craft, engineering re-
sultsin auseful product, but the development of
the product depends upon the application of sci-
entific principlesand usually statistical methods.
Asanexample, | selected the devel opment of an
economic threshold for the potato aphid, Mac-
rosiphum euphorbiae (Thomas), on flax (Wise
et al. 1995). An economic threshold is the use-
ful product which alows farmers to apply pest
control in acost-effective way. Economic thresh-
oldsdepend on the application of ecological prin-
ciplesthat describe herbivore-plant interactions,
to quantify the dollar value of crop losses per
unit of insect density. Two critical stepsare usu-
aly involved: determining the seasonal popula-
tion dynamicsof the pest in relation to crop phe-
nology, and quantifying therelationship between
crop lossand herbivore density, often using sim-
plelinear regression.

In the case of the potato aphid on flax, both
the density of the herbivore and the age of the

Figure 4. Plots of flax at different growth stages
used to determine economic thresholds for the
aphid, Macrosiphum euphorbiae .

Volume 35(2), juin 2003

crop were considered. Multiple plot trials with
the crop at different stages were treated with in-
secticide to manipulate insect density (Fig. 4).
The economic thresholds turned out to be three
aphids per plant when flax isin full bloom and
eight aphids per plant when seed capsules have
formed but are still green. These are surprising-
ly low aphid densities, considering the respec-
tive biomass of aphid and plant. To me, thiswork
is perfectly analogous to applying different de-
grees of force (analogous to aphid density) to
steel beams of different age (analogous to the
plants), to determine the least expensive but
structurally sound beam for a building (analo-
gous to an economic threshold). Thisis a clear
example of engineering, with the development
of a useful product by applying scientific and
statistical principles. Interestingly, very littlein
the way of new science is produced, and the re-
sults refer rather narrowly to a particular situa-
tion: in this case, the damage that asingle aphid
population causes to a particular crop variety
under the growth conditions that occur where
the tests are conducted. Nevertheless, the prod-
uct may be very useful. | now realize that ento-
mological engineering does have implications
for entomological science, however. If thethresh-
old turns out to be applied successfully, then the
scientific principles on which the threshold are
based will betested over and over againinalarge
scale, real world environment.
Entomological science

Thecreation and testing of hypothesesin a
way that increases our understanding of the
world of insects. To illustrate entomological
science, an hypothesisis required, for example:
Domestication of a plant species to produce a
crop reduces the defences of the crop to herbiv-
ory by insects. This hypothesis has breadth, and
might help us understand the interactions be-
tween thousands of insect herbivores and per-
haps hundreds of plant species. If true, the hy-
pothesis has important implications for both
plant and animal agriculture, and probably also
forestry. | suspect that most of you think the
hypothesisislikely to betrue, and would be sur-
prised to learn that it has rarely been tested. To
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Figure 5. A female wheat midge,
Sitodiplosis mosellana, resting on a wheat
spike after ovipositing.

illustrate entomological science | will briefly
describe a test of the hypothesis, using the
wheat midge interacting with wheat and its
ancestors (Wise et al. 2001). In this case we
looked at the susceptibility of 42 accessions
(geneticaly distinct lines) from 17 speciesin
the genus Triticum, including ancestors of the
common commercial wheat. We were able to
order the wheat speciesinto five evolutionary
lineages based on their ploidy levels (number
of chromosomes) and the presence of particu-
lar genomes (common groups of chromo-
somes). Within each lineage, the degree of do-
mestication of the wheats could roughly be
quantified based on spike (inflorescence) and
seed characteristics. Early farmers selected for
traits such aslarge seeds and the ability to eas-
ily separate seeds from the leaf-like glumes
that cover them. Thewheat midgelaysitseggs
on wheat spikes (Fig. 5), and larvae feed on
the surface of developing seeds under the
glumes. Therefore, traitsimportant to humans
may also affect the wheat midge.
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Based on the hypothesis, we expect that an-
cient wheatswill beless susceptibleto thewheat
midge than highly-domesticated modern com-
mercial wheats. When we measured the amount
of infestation by wheat midge on al the acces-
sions and species, we found that the degree of
infestation was low in the least domesticated
wheats and high in the most domesticated
wheats. Thepattern was consistent in all fivelin-
eages, but the degree of infestation did not al-
ways increase consistently with each step to-
wards domestication in alineage. The tightness
with which glumes adhere to the seed surface
explained much of the variation, and so appar-
ently both wheat midges and humans benefit
from feeding on seeds that sit freely within the
glumes. Theseresultsarelargely consistent with
our original hypothesis, and represent one of the
first real tests of this interesting scientific hy-
pothesis.

Onecynica ruleof researchis: Stop whenyou
are ahead! We didn't stop. Sam Migui, aformer
PhD student working in our lab, tested the hy-
pothesis again (Migui 2002). Being a graduate
student, | asked him to do much morework than
I was willing to do. He used the same wheats to
test the role of domestication on two types of
plant resistance, antibiosis and tolerance, for
three species of cereal aphids, Rhopalosiphum
padi (L.), Schizaphis graminum (Rondani) and
Stobion avenae (Fabricius). Tomakealong sto-
ry shorter, he found no association between re-
sistance to the aphids and degree of domestica-
tion. He did find a pattern of resistance related
to ploidy level: those species which have the
fewest chromosomes are the most resistant. In
Triticum, ploidy level and domestication are con-
founded, and so thetask of disentanglingtherole
of domestication and other evolutionary forces
for susceptibility to herbivory will be difficult. |
think we have found yet again that apparently
simple, straightforward biological hypotheses
often turn out to be anything but.

For me, entomology is a multi-faceted disci-
pline. Now that | have categorized the facets to
my satisfaction | realize that, yes, | have done
entomological science. | aso realizethat | have
done a great deal of entomological engineering
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and craft, and this work has been very satisfy-
ing. In part the satisfaction comes from know-
ing the work has been useful to many people,
and also from the challenge of applying ento-
mological experience. Finaly, entomology is
natural history and an aesthetic experience, and
I now wish that these facets of entomology were
more prominent in my work. | suppose that is
another way of saying that they will be in my
future entomol ogy. Thank you for conferring on
methe Gold Medal of the Entomological Socie-
ty of Canada, and thank you for providing me
with the opportunity to think about what ento-
mology means to me.
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Book Reviews / Critiques de livres

Books to be reviewed

If you are interested in reviewing one of the
following books, please contact Allan Carroll,
Chair of the Publications Committee.

Basset Y, Novonty V, Miller SE, Kitching RL
(Editors). 2003. Arthropods of tropical for-
ests. Cambridge University Press

Held LI. 2002. Imaginal Discs: The genetic and
cellular logic of pattern formation. Cam-
bridge University Press

Majerus MEN. 2003. Sex Wars: Genes, bacte-
ria and biased sex ratios. Princeton Univer-
Sity Press

Resh VH and Carde RT (Editors). 2003. Ency-
clopedia of insects. Academic Press Publish-
ers.
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Waldbauer G. 2003. What good are bugs? In-
sects in the web of life. Harvard University
Press

Please send correspondence concerning book re-
views to the Chair of the Publications Commit-
tee:

Allan Carroll

506 West Burnside Road

Pecific Forestry Centre

Victoria, BC, Canada V8Z 1M5

Tel: (250) 363-0639

Fax: (250) 363-0775

E-mail: acarroll @pfc.cfs.nrcan.gc.ca
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Thinking of measuring juvenile
hormone titres in your
experimental insect?

Take a deep breath!

By Michel Cusson

development and/or reproduction, with an

interest in regulatory mechanisms, amost in-
variably reach a point where they need data on
juvenile hormone (JH) titresin their test animal.
Thisshould seem obviousgiven thekey rolethat
JH playsin orchestrating both devel opment and
reproduction in most insects. Despite the great
deal of attention that approaches to such meas-
urementsreceivedinthe 1970'sand early 1980's,
JH titre determinations remain a considerable
challenge today, in part due to the dwindling
expertise in this area. But why are these meas-
urements so difficult to make when the titres of
many other hormones can be determined with
relative ease?

First, onemust realizethat JH isalipid (ases-
quiterpene, Fig. 1) which, in most insects, is
present in such small quantities (pg-ng range per
ml hemolymph) that it isliterally lost in aseaof
other lipids (predominantly sterols and di- and
triglycerides), which can (and will!) interfere
with the accuracy of the measurements. Thus,
whereas the levels of many hormones can be
measured with asimple radioimmunoassay, with
minimal preparatory purification, measuring JH

I nvestigators working in the area of insect
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terization of JH biosynthetic enzymes. Con-
tact information: mcusson@RNCan.gc.ca,
telephone: (418) 648-3944, fax: (418) 648-
5849; Natural Resources Canada, CFSLFC,
1055 du P.E.P.S, PO Box 3800, Sainte-Foy,
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titres, be it by physico-chemical or immunolog-
ical methods, typically requires several steps of
delicate extraction, chromatographic purification
and even derivatization before the actual quanti-
fication can be carried out.

Second, JH is highly sensitive to degradation
by various enzymes, namely a JH-specific este-
rase that is very stable and which could signifi-
cantly alter JH titres after sacrificing theanimals
if these are not processed immediately. In addi-
tion, this enzyme convertsthe active hormone, a
methyl-ester, to an inactive (or less active)
form—JH acid—which may not bedistinguished
from JH by some of theanalytical methods (e.g.,
some radioimmunoassays).

Lastly (thelistislonger, but | will stop here),
athough most insects produce only one form of
JH (JH 111), the Lepidopteramakefour additional
structural homologues which differ in biologi-
cal activity and which cannot be quantified in-
dependently using a bioassay or radioimmu-
noassay without prior painstaking purification
of each individual homologue. The same com-
ment applies to the higher Diptera, which pro-
duce both JH 111 and a bis-epoxide form of this
hormone.

What, then, are your optionsif you are inter-
ested in measuring JH titres in a given insect?
Before hand, you should be aware that there are
three broad categories of quantitative approach-
es for making JH titre determinations: (i) phys-
ico-chemical methods (involvingaGC-M S step),
(i) radioimmunoassaysand (iii) bioassays. These
goindecreasing order of complexity and require-
ments for specialized equipment, but they also
provide measurementsin decreasing order of re-
liability. Before you get started, you may have
reasons to suspect that the animal you work on
has very low JH titres owing to the existence of
dependable titre data on a related species. For
example, caterpillarsfrom which measurements
have been made were found to have remarkably
low levels of JH (Cusson et al. 2000). In con-
trast, other insects such as adult cockroaches
(Tobeet al. 1985) and bumble bees (Bloch et al.
2000) have JH titres several orders of magni-
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tude higher. Thus, you should keep in mind that
the lower the titres, the greater the need for ex-
tensive purification prior to quantification, par-
ticularly if a physico-chemical approach or ra-
dioimmunoassay is being used.

As dluded to above, the method of choiceis
the gas chromatography/mass spectrometry
method, namely the one devel oped by Bergot et
al. (1981), for which there exist afew variations
(e.g., Teal et al. 2000). If you are interested in
measuring thetitres of individual JH homologues
in alepidopteran insect, this method is virtually
the only one you can rely on. However, the av-
erageinsect physiology laboratory does not have
the required equipment (GC/MS) and/or exper-
tise (in both analytical and organic chemistry)
to face the challenge of this procedure. One op-
tion may beto strike a collaboration with one of
thefew groupsthat are still involved in thistype
of work or that have the expertise to guide you
through the procedure in their laboratory. They
may ask that you carry out some of the sample
extraction and cleanup in your own laboratory,
whichisnot too overwhelming provided that you
use a detailed protocol (I can provide one). Al-
ternatively, if you have accessto a GC/MS and
thefundsto hirearesourceful chemist, you may
be able to meet the challenge without having to
depend on the contribution of an outside labora-
tory—but be prepared to devote plenty of time
to this endeavour.

There exist several JH radioimmunoassays
(e.g., Goodman et al. 1995; Strami et al. 1981),
all of which can providefairly dependable meas-
urements provided that samples are extensively
purified prior to running the assay. The equip-
ment required for carrying out this procedure
(e.g., vacuum concentrator, scintillation coun-
ter, centrifuge, TLC tank and HPLC pump) is
more likely to be found in any modern laborato-
ry than a GC/MS. However, you will need to
obtain a suitable antiserum from a collaborator
or be willing to take the steps necessary to gen-
erate one and characterizeit. You will also need
aminimum of expertisein sampleextraction and
chromatography, and be ready to spend many
hours (i.e., weeks) fine tuning/adapting the pro-
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Figure 1. Stick representation of the three
most common juvenile hormones.

cedure for your samples. If you intend to use
this approach to measure JH titresin a L epidop-
tera, you should make every effort to find an
antiserum displaying a similar level of affinity
for al JH homologues present in the sample so
that you can reliably measure the titre of “total
JH” (see Cusson et al. 1997, 1999). Lastly, meas-
urement accuracy will be enhanced by the use
of natural enantiomers of JH in the assay (Cuss-
on et al. 1997).

Bioassays were the first methods used to di-
rectly estimate JH titres. They involve the injec-
tion or topical application of a JH extract in or
onto an insect chosen for its ability to display
clear morphological changes (e.g., in pigmenta-
tion) following JH treatment. The insect is first
treated with known doses of synthetic JH, and a
score (say, from 0 to 5), representative of the
degree of morphological change, isattributed to
each dose, thus constituting a “ standard curve’
from which values for test samples can then be
read. Sample preparation does not need to be as
extensive for this method as for the other two,
but one needs to establish a colony of the insect
(e.g., Manduca black mutant; Fain and Riddi-
ford 1975) chosen for scoring. It goes without
saying that bioassays will not provide accurate
estimates of absolute titres.

In view of the difficulties associated with
mesasuring JH titres, many workers have resort-
ed to indirect approaches such as the in vitro
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measurement of rates of JH biosynthesis by in-
dividual pairs of corpora allata (CA) using a
radiochemical assay (Pratt and Tobe 1974; Tobe
and Pratt 1974); in someinsects, the biosynthet-
ic activity of the CA iswell correlated with JH
titres (e.g., Tobe et al. 1985). Assessing the lev-
el of transcription of a JH-regulated gene such
as the JH esterase gene (Feng et al. 1999) may
also, in some cases, provide areasonableideaof
the relative changesin JH titres.

It is clear from the foregoing discussion that
measuring JH levelsin an insect isno easy task.
One hopesthat recent biotechnological progress
will lead to new, simpler procedures for making
these titre determinations. In the meantime, do
not hesitate to contact me should you have ques-
tions on the issue of JH titre measurements.
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Altises servis sur un plateau.

Par Magali Breton, Florent
Courtin, et Yvan Pelletier

it coléoptéere noir lustré de la famille
g‘es chrysoméles, I'altise adulte de la
pomme de terre (Epitrix cucumeris (Har-
ris) ) a ses pattes arrieres trés développées, ce
qui lui permet de sauter facilement s elle est
dérangée sur la plante. En revanche, I'altise ne
vole pas ou trés peu. L'atise mesurede 2 a5
mm de long. Ses antennes peuvent représenter
de la moitié aux deux tiers de la longueur du
corps (Holliday et Stewart 1994; Duval 1996).
Cette tendance a s enfuir dés I’ approche d’'un
entomologiste rend I’ échantillonnage de la den-
sité de population des adultes rel ativement diff-
icile surtout si lefilet fauchoir n’ est pas une op-
tion.

Ayant observé que latrés grande majorité des
altises avaient tendance & sauter vers le sol et
non vers d’ autres feuilles quand elles étaient
dérangées, nous avons construit un plateau en
carton, fendu en son milieu avec un trou au cen-
tre pour laisser passer latige de laplante et pos-
sédant un systeme de charniere (Fig. 1). Lasur-

Yvan Pelletier, pelletiery@agr.gc.ca, dirigele
Laboratoire de Physiologie des insectes au
Centre de recherches sur la pomme de terre
d’Agriculture et Agroalimentaire Canada a
Fredericton. Intéressé par lesinsectesdepuis
son jeune age, il compléete sa maitrise a
I’Université Laval, puis son doctorat a Penn-
sylvania Sate University. Sesactivitésdere-
cherche portent surtout sur le dével oppement
de cultivars de pomme de terre résistants aux
insectes mais également sur la nature
moléculaire de la résistance des insectes aux
insecticides. Magali Breton et Florent Courtin
étaient des étudiants & I’ Ecole Supérieure
d’'Ingénieurs et de Techniciens pour
I’ Agriculture en France lors de leur séour
de trois mois a Fredericton pendant I’ été
2001.
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face du plateau était recouverte de Vaseline™
(gelée de pétrole blanche). Contrairement au
Tanglefoot™, |a Vaseline™ ne colle pas les
feuilles, ce qui évite de détériorer la plante, tout
en étant suffisamment collante pour retenir les
insectes prisonniers. Ce plateau doit étre suff-
isamment large pour couvrir |’aire de saut des
altises. Le plateau que nous avons utilisé avait
pour dimensions 80 cm x 74 cm. Letrou central
avait un diametre d' environ 9 cm. Les plantesa
échantillonner ont été approchéeslentement, afin
de ne pas faire fuir les altises. Au moment de
I’ échantillonnage, le plateau a été placé sous la
plante (on peut se servir d’ unetige pour soulev-
er lentement le feuillage) puis a été |égerement
secouée pour faire sauter les altises. Au bout de
10 secondes, nous avonsretiré le plateau du tour
delaplante et avons compté le nombre d' altises
prises au piege.

L’ efficacité des pieges élaborés a été évalué
en comparant |es résultats avec une autre méth-
ode, le «Whole Plant Bag Sampling» (WPBS)
(Senanayake et al. 1993; Senanayake et Holli-
day 1988; Byerly et al. 1978). Dix jours avant

Figure 1: Echantillonnage de la popula-
tion d'altises avec la méthode du plateau.

I” échantillonnage, un sac aété placéautour d' une
plante choisie au hasard danslaparcelle de pom-
me deterre. Aumoment de |’ échantillonnage, la
plante a été approchée doucement puis le sac
relevé et refermé hermétiquement aux deux ex-
trémités. La plante a alors été coupée a sa base.
Nous avons placé le sac récolté au congélateur
(-15°C) pendant quel ques heures. Ceci apermis
de rendre le comptage des altises, une fois con-
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gelées, plus facile. La plante a été minutieuse-
ment observéetige par tige et foliole par foliole.
Laterre et les folioles restantes ont été passées
sur un tamisafin de séparer au maximum laterre
des altises. Enfin, le sac a été a son tour minu-
tieusement inspecté.

Pour chaque piége, nous avons procédé a dix
échantillons, choisisau hasard dansune parcelle
de pomme de terre. Cette expérience a été réal-
isée sur deux jours, mi-juillet 2001, par temps
ensoleillé et chaud (25°C).

Le nombre moyen d’ altises collectées avec la
méthode WPBS était de 11.7 (SEM 2.61) et avec
le plateau de 8.9 (SEM 0.99). Le test de com-
parai son des moyennesamontréqu'’il n’existait
pas de différence significative entre les deux.

On peut donc facilement et économiquement
évaluer la densité de population d' altises adul-
tes au moyen du plateau collant.
L’ échantillonnage est effectué rapidement et
N’ est pasinfluencé par le port delaplante. Nous
avonseffectué ces essaiesavec lapommedeterre
mais la méthode peut facilement étre adaptée a
d autres cultures.

Byerly KF, Gutierrez AP, Jones RE, Luck RF.
1978. A comparison of sampling methodsfor
some arthropod populations in cotton.
Hilgardia 46: 257-282.

Duval J. 1996. Les altises. http://
www.eap.mcgill.ca/AgroBio/ab_head.htm
Holliday NJ, Stewart JG. 1994. L’ dtise de la
pomme de terre. pp 276-277, In: Maladies
et ravageursdes cultureslégumiéresau Can-

ada.

Senanayake DG, Holliday NJ. 1988. Compari-
son of visual, sweep-net, and whole plant bag
sampling methods for estimating insect pest
population on potato. Journal of Economic
Entomology 81:1113-1119.

Senanayake D.G, Pernal S.F, Holliday N.J. 1993.
Yield responses of potatoesto defoliation by
the potato flea beetle (Coleoptera: Chrys-
omelidae) in Manitoba. Journal of Econom-
ic Entomology 86:1527-1533.
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Editor’s Note: For the September issue | thought
it would be a great time for someone to write
about how to make an effective presentation:
setting up clear slideswith Power Point, tips for
speaking in public or even how to make a good
poster. Other topics| thought could be covered
in this column would be useful experiments for
an undergraduate entomol ogy lab, how to meas-
ure temperature, or tricks for rearing insects.

Volunteers sought for butterfly
census

The North American Butterfly Association
(NABA) Buitterfly Countsisan ongoing program
of NABA to census the butterflies of North
America (United States, Canada and partially
Mexico) and to publishthe results. Volunteer par-
ticipants select a count area with a 15-mile di-
ameter and conduct a one-day census of all but-
terfliessighted within that circle. The countsare
usually heldin thefew weeksbefore or after July
4thinthe USA, July 1st in Canadaand Septem-
ber16th in Mexico

For more information on the count program,
and how to conduct a count, please contact:

NABA Butterfly Counts

2533 McCart

Fort Worth, TX 76110

E-mail: naba@naba.org

web site: www.naba.org
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Lab Profile / Profil de labo
By Shelley Hoover

The Winston Lab, Simon Fraser University
The Winston lab is at Simon Fraser University (SFU), Burnaby, British Columbia. There
are many entomology labs at SFU, including the Borden, Gries, Roitberg and Crespi
labs. Check them out at http://www.sfu.ca/biology/. We share |ab and office space with John
Borden and his students, and they nicely tolerate the occasional bee flying around in exchange for
honey inthefall. We are (affectionately?) known asthe Swarm Team. Every summer thereisahotly
contested cheesecake competition and a cookie competition at Halloween. Our bees have been fea-
tured on the TV shows, Smallville, and the X-files, and a recent ‘B’ movie Killerbees! Our main
problems are the inevitable bee stings, and early mornings when we must be up before the bees. To
combat these issues and maintain our high morale, we consume a steady diet of Tim Horton's fare.
Other benefits of being in the Winston lab are the great people, and of course all the honey.

Professor Mark L. Winston; winston@sfu.ca, http://www.sfu.ca/biol ogy/faculty/winston/
Mark received his BA and MA from Boston University, and his PhD from the University of Kansas.
He has been a professor at Simon Fraser University since 1980. He is amember of the

R.Long

Members of Mark Winston’s Lab at SFU. From left to right: Robin Whittington, Mark
Winston, Anna Birmingham (glasses), Erik Von Krogh, Lora Morandin (top), Shelley
Hoover (bottom), Michelle Franklin (top), Desiree Tommasi (bottom, glasses), Robin
Cho, Jacopo Miro (top), Nick Charette (bottom), Heather Higo, Alita Krickan and Tracy
Lau. Missing: Alice Miro, Claudia Ratti and Mowgli (dog).

Volume 35(2), juin 2003 Bulletin de la Société d'entomologie du Canada 79


http://www.sfu.ca/biology/
mailto:winston@sfu.ca
http://www.sfu.ca/biology/faculty/winston/

Lab Profile

Centre for Pest Management, the Behavioural Ecology Research Group and the Chemical Ecology
Research Group, as well as a Fellow of the M.J. Wosk Centre for Dialogue and Director of the
Undergraduate Semester in Dialogue. Mark is the author of numerous scientific articles, as well as
many books and book chapters.

The Swarm Team

Technician

Heather Higo; hhigo@sfu.ca

What would we do without Heather? ‘Lab tech’ doesn’t begin to describe her work. Heather is
responsible for the maintenance and care of all the honey bee colonies, she assists the graduate
studentswith their projects, and even managesto do her own research on many aspects of honey bee
biology and pollination. Heather received her BSc and M Sc from SFU.

Graduate students

Lora Morandin; PhD student, Imorandi @sfu.ca

Lorais currently studying the relationship between modern agricultural practices and pollinators.
Her research focuses on; 1) the effects of pesticides on bee health and learning ability, and 2) the
effects of different types of agriculture (organic, conventional and genetically modified) on wild bee
diversity, abundance, and pollination efficacy. Lora's research is conducted at SFU and in rural
Alberta. Loradid her BSc and MSc at the University of Western Ontario, working on bumble bee
pollination of greenhouse tomatoes with Terence Laverty, UWO and Peter Kevan, University of
Guelph.

Shelley Hoover; PhD student, sehoover@sfu.ca, http://www.sfu.ca/~sehoover/
My primary research objective isto investigate how natural selection pressures have acted on socia

Chris Tucker and Heather Higo doing some spring beekeeping,
Burnaby B.C., May 2002.
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Profil de labo

insects to produce different life history strategies, colony types and reproductive modes. | am inter-
ested in; 1) the evolution of multiple mating in honey bees, 2) genetic and environmental variation
in honey bee behaviour and physiology and 3) factors influencing worker reproduction in social
insects. Specifically, | have been looking at pheromones that inhibit honey bee worker ovary devel-
opment, genetic and environmental variation in worker reproduction, and selecting for high and low
levels of worker honey bee reproduction. | have also been collaborating with Ben Oldroyd at the
University of Sydney, looking at factors leading to the ‘Anarchistic Syndrome’ in which honey bee
workers lay eggs despite the presence of a reproductive queen. | did my BSc at the University of
Northern British Columbia, and worked on rootcollar weevils and ambrosia beetles with Staffan
Lindgren and aquatic insects with Josef Ackerman.

Anna Birmingham; MSc student, alb@sfu.ca

Anna also works in greenhouses, studying the orientation and socia structure of bumble beesin
greenhouses. She has looked at; 1) the incidence of drifting bees, 2) whether landmarks aid bee
orientation in greenhouses and 3) the reproductive status of drifting and resident bees. She has
found that the incidence of drifting bees in greenhouses is high and the drifting bees are more
reproductively active in their host colonies than the resident bees. Annais famous for having bikes
stolen, and trying to avoid accidents. Anna completed her BSc at the University of Western Ontario,
looking at the foraging constancy of bumble beeswith Terence Laverty.

Robin Whittington; MSc student

Robin recently defended her M Sc thesis examining factors that limit bumble bee colony growth and
pollination on commercia greenhouses. She investigated; 1) whether bumble bees received ade-
guate nutrition in tomato greenhouses, 2) whether bumbl e bees forage outside the greenhouses and
if so how much?, 3) the relative merits of Bombus impatiens and B. occidentalis as greenhouse
pollinators and 4) the protozoan parasite Nosema bombi. Robin did her BSc at SFU, and will be
working in Banff this summer. She will be sorely missed.

Claudia Ratti; M Sc student, cratti @sfu.ca

Claudiaisthe most recent addition to the lab. She will be studying native bee abundance and diver-
sity in berry crops in the Fraser Valley. Claudia graduated with her BSc from the University of
Waterloo.

Undergraduate stundents

Michelle Franklin; BSc student, mfrankli @sfu.ca

Michelle has been working in the lab since 2001, and has recently completed and NSERC under-
graduate project looking at the effects of a new pesticide on bumble bee health, learning and forag-
ing ability. She hopesto continuein biology, studying aguatic habitats, and will graduate from SFU
in fall 2003.

Mascot
M owdgli

Mowgli is Lora's dog, and a full-fledged lab member. She often provides a much-
needed Frisbee break, and her breath isn’t all that bad.

Editor’s Note: If you would like to share what is happening in your laboratory, please contact me.
This is good way for potential graduate students to learn about your lab.
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The Student Wing / L'aile étudiante —_—

By Tonya Mousseau

reetings to everyone from the ESC student
Grepresentative! It is my pleasure to be intro-

ducing The Sudent Wing, a column in the Bulle-
tin devoted entirely to graduate students. At the request of
the students, alist of recently defended thesesisincluded.
If you know of someone who is a Canadian abroad or
from a Canadian University that has successfully com-

pleted hisor her thesisin the last six months, send the information to me to be published in the next
Bulletin. Graduate students are also encouraged to write in questions, which can then be answered
by expertsin the field.

I look forward to meeting with everyone at the ESC 2003 meeting in British Columbia. Thisyear,
therewill be aspecia 'informal’ students night to be held at the Kelowna Curling Club, a short walk
from the hotel. There will befood, pool tables, dartboards, and most importantly, abar. Thiswill be
our chance to get acquainted with each other and share research experience.

M. Alperyn

Thesis roundup / Un foisonnement de théses

Nancy Champagne; champagne.nancy @caramail.com, MSc, avril 2003. Evaluation de la diver-
sité entomol ogique au sol et effet dela modification de la gestion des végétaux sur lesinsectesau
sol le long d'emprises autoroutiéres de trois milieux différents (agricole, forestier et périurbain)
dans le sud du Québec (Canada). Directeur : Jean-Pierre Bourassa, Université du Québec a
Trois-Riviéres

Eleanor Fast; efastl@po-box.mcgill.ca, MSc, April 2003. Diversity of Brachycera (Diptera) in a
Quebec old growth forest. Supervisor: Terry Wheeler, University: McGill University

Myungpyo Jung, jung7504@hanmail.net, M Sc, February 2003. Analysis of soil-dwelling spider
community in agricultural landscape. Supervisor: Joon-Ho Lee, Seoul National University

Samuel M. Migui; samuel.migui @csiro-europe.org, PhD, April 2002. Host relationships of three
aphid species on wheat in the genus Triticum: Potential for crop resistance in spring wheat.
Supervisor: Robert Lamb, University of Manitoba

Allison C. Poff; allison_poff@hotmail.com, MSc, April 2003. Adaptive oviposition behaviour in
the goldenrod stem galler, Eurosta solidaginis (Diptera: Tephritidae). Supervisor: Richard
Sweitzer, University of North Dakota

Kelly Shoemaker; shoemakk@biology.queensu.ca, PhD, March 2003. Interactions between im-
munity and reproduction in the cricket, Gryllustexensis. Supervisor: Shelley Adamo, Dalhousie
University

Alice Sinia; asinia@sfu.ca, http://www.sfu.ca/~roitberg/la/people/alice_sinia.htm, MPM (Masters
of Pest Management), January 2003. Effect of plant feeding on predation and forage behaviour
in Dicyphus hesperus Knight (Heteroptera: Mirida€). Supervisor: Bernie Roitberg, Simon Fra-
ser University

David Wade; dwade@mb.sympatico.ca, MSc, October 2002. The effect on the spider (Araneae)
fauna of tallgrassprairie and itsimplications on prairie management. Supervisor: Robert Rough-
ley, University of Manitoba
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L'aile étudiante

Questions and answers / Questions et résponses

What arethe"key" classic books every graduate student should read, for example, on entomology in
general, on the scientific method, on research design, or on statistical analysis? Kathy Bleiker,
University of Montana

Entomology

Borror, DJ, Triplehorn CA, Johnson NF. 1989. An introduction to the study of insects. 6th edition.
Montreal: Saunders College Publishing

Chapman RF. 1998. The insects, structure and function. 4th edition. Cambridge: Cambridge Uni-
versity Press

Essig EO. 1972. A history of entomology. New York: Hafner Publishing Company

Gillott C. 1995. Entomology. New York: Plenum Publishing Co.

Gullan PJ, Cranston PS. 1994. Insects: An outline of entomology. New York: Chapman & Hall

Price PW. 1997. Insect ecology. 3rd edition, New York: John Wiley & Sons

Riegert PW. 1980. From arsenic to DDT. Toronto: University of Toronto Press

Methodology

Ford ED. 2002. Scientific method for ecological research. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
Robertson JL, Preisler HK. 1992. Pesticide bioassays with arthropods. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press
Southwood TRE. 1988. Ecological methods. 2nd edition. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers

Statistics

Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ. 1997. Biometry. 3rd edition. Englewood Cliffs, NJ W. H. Freeman & Co.
Zar JH. 1996. Biogtatistical analysis. New York: Prentice Hall

Motulsky H. 1995. Intuitive biostatistics. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Pest management

Jervis M, Kidd N. 1996. Insect natural enemies: Practical approaches to their study and evalua-
tion. New York: Chapman & Hall

Metcalf CL, Flint WP, Metcalf RL. 1962. Destructive and useful insects: Their habits and control.
New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company

Metcalf RL, Luckmann WH. 1994. Introduction to insect pest management. 3rd edition. New York:
John Wiley & Sons

Regnault-Roger C, Philogene BJR, Vincent C. (Editors). 2002. Biopesticides d'origine végétale.
Peris: Lavoisier Tech. & Doc.

TanadaY, Kaya HK. 1993. Insect pathology. New York: Academic Press Inc.

Van Driesche RG, Bellows TS. 1996. Biological control. New York: Chapman & Hall

Vincent C, Coderre D. (Editeurs). 1992. La lutte biologique. Paris: Gaétan Morin (Editeur, Mon-
tréal) & Lavoisier Tech. & Doc.

Vincent C, Panneton B, Fleurat-Lessard F. (Editeurs). 2000. La lutte physique en phytoprotection.
Peris; Editions INRA

Vincent C, Panneton B, Fleurat-Lessard F. 2001. (Editors). Physical control methods in plant pro-
tection. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag/INRA
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The Student Wing

Writing

Day RA. 1998. How to write and publish a scientific paper. 5th edition. Phoenix: Onyx Press

Elbow P. 2000. Everyone can write essays: Towards a hopeful theory of writing and teaching writ-
ing. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Answer provided by CharlesVincent, ESC First Vice-President
Questions looking for answers / Questions sans résponses

Are there any programs to facilitate exchange of students (three to six months) between provinces
among universities and government or private industries? Dominique Fleury, Institut des Sciences
de I'Environnement (UQM).

I'll soon be finishing my graduate degree in entomology and | am thinking ahead to getting a job.
What are some different career paths in entomology? What can | do with my degree? Jen Perry,
Simon Fraser University

Editor’s Note: If you have a question or an answer to the above questions, or you have other items
for The Student Wing, please contact Tonya Mousseau, tonyabeetle@hotmail.com, Department
of Entomology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada R3T 2N2.

Graduate student position available

Resistance of wild potatoesto aphidsA graduate student assistantship at the PhD level isavail-
ablefor astudent to evaluate the interactions between wild potatoes and potato infesting aphids. The
candidate will characterize theinfluence of plant chemicals, and other factors associated with resist-
ancein wild Solanum species, on the preference and performance of aphids. The candidate will also
be able to investigate the resistance of hybrids of wild Solanum species to the aphids, as both wild
potato species and hybrids of wild potato species are available at the Potato Research Centre, Agri-
culture and Agri-Food Canada, in Fredericton. This project is part of an international initiative on
potato resistance to aphids that includes; the University Picardie-Jules Vernes (France), Université
du Québec a Montréal, Cavendish Farms, the University of New Brunswick and Agriculture and
Agri-Food Canada.

The successful candidate will start a graduate program in summer (June) or fall (September)
2003. An annual stipend of $14,500 is available in addition to other sources of income from schol-
arships and GTA's. To apply, contact by e-mail or send CV with names, addresses and telephone
numbers of three references to either:

Yvan Pelletier Dan Quiring

Potato Research Centre Population Ecology Group
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada University of New Brunswick
PO Box 20280, 850 Lincoln Road Fredericton, New Brunswick
Fredericton, New Brunswick Canada E3B 6C2

Canada E3B 427 Telephone: (506) 453-4922
Telephone: (506) 452 3260 E-mail: guiring@unb.ca.

E-mail: pelletiery@agr.gc.ca
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L'aile étudiante

ESC awards and scholarships

Postgraduate awards

Two postgraduate awards of $2000 will be of-
fered to assist ESC student members beginning
study and research leading to afirst post-gradu-
ate degree in entomology. The postgraduate
awards will be made on the basis of high scho-
lastic achievement. Deadline: 10 June 2004

Research-travel grants

Two research-travel grants of a maximum of
$2000 will be awarded to help ESC student mem-
bersincrease the scope of the graduate training.
Applications will be judged on scientific merit.
Deadline: 14 February 2004

For complete details, consult;
http://esc-sec.org/students.htm, Bulletin ESC
2002 34 (4): 165-173, or Dave Gillespie at
gillespied@agr.gc.ca

Prix et bourses de la SEC

Bourse pour étudiants post-gradués

L aSociété d'entomol ogie du Canadaoffriradeux
bourses d'une valeur de 2000 $ chacune pour
aider des étudiantes et étudiants de la SEC qui
débutent des études post-graduées et des recher-
ches en vue del'obtention d'un premier dipléme
d'études supérieures en entomol ogie. Lesbourses
seront accordées aux étudiants ou étudiantes en
raison des seuls critéres de réussite académique.
Datelimite: le 10 juin 2004

Subventions de recherche-voyage au niveau des
études supérieures

Deux subventions de recherche-voyage, d’ un
maximum de 2000 $, ont pour objet d'aider les
étudiants et étudiantes de la SEC a éargir le
champ de leur formation supérieure. Les candi-
datures seront jugées selon leur mérite scienti-
fique. Date limite : le 14 févier 2004

Pour de plus amples renseignements consulter;
http://esc-sec.org/students.htm, Bulletin SEC
2002 34 (4): 165-173, ou Dave Gillespie a
gillespied@agr.gc.ca

Arctic and boreal entomology course: Churchill, Manitoba

General Scope of Course:

Interactions of the northern entomo-fauna with biotic and abiotic elements (e.g. plant/insect rela-
tionship, entomophathogens, insects and wildlife, coastal and freshwater habitats). This course will
be of interest to students and individuals interested in the ecology of insect communities across one
of the world's most important ecotones.

Particulars:

The course will be held at the Churchill Northern Studies Centre (CNSC) located in Churchill,
Manitoba from 9-24 August 2003. The cost is $1000 US (approximately $1500 CND). This in-
cludes room and board at CNSC, supplies, use of equipment and laboratory space. Cost does NOT
include travel to and from Churchill. There will be evening lectures and discussions, with field
excurisons to: tundra, krumolz, seasides, boreal forest at the tree line and glacial moraines.
Instructors:

Rob Roughley, Professor, University of Manitoba and

Peter Kevan, Professor, Department of Entomology

University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario Canada N1G 2W1, pkevan@uoguelph.ca

See the web site for additional details: http://www.uoguel ph.ca/~pkevan/courses/arcent.html
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The Student Wing
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Scholarship fund

Once again the Society would like to thank
and acknowledge the very generous donorsto
the ESC scholarship fund. Donations to the
scholarship fund totaled $4710in 2002. These
tax-deductible donations are very important to
the Society. The scholarship fund generated
$6930 in interest during 2002, but $8000 in
scholarships and travel grants were awarded.
In 2003, $9000 in awards will be granted. Itis
only because of your generosity that the schol-
arship fund is self sustaining. Donations can
be made at any time and a receipt for income
tax purposes in Canada will be issued. Please
make cheques payable to the Entomological
Society of Canada.

2002 Scholarship donors

G. Bdl R. Edwards
E. Becker P. Fields

J. Borden S. Fitzpatrick
G. Byers R. Forbes

R. Byers G. Gibson
A. Cameron D. Gillespie
J. Churcher M. Goettel
B. Cooke P. Harris

J. Cunningham N. Holliday
K. Davey R. Jaques

P. de Groot R. Leech

J. Delide S. Lindgren
P. Dixon S. Loschiavo

And those who gave anonymously

Research-travel-grant winners

Fonds de bourses d'études

La Société tient aremercier, unefoisde plus,
les généreux donateurs et généreuses donatrices
au Fonds de bourses d'études de la SEC. Nous
avons regu un total de $4710 en 2002. Ces dons
déductibles d'impbt sont trés importants pour la
Société. Le Fonds de bourses d'études a généré
$6930 d'intérét en 2002, mais $3000 en bourses
d'étude et de voyage ont été attribués. En 2003,
$9000 seront attribués en bourses. C'est seule-
ment grace a votre générosité que le fonds peut
étre autosuffisant. Les dons peuvent étre faits
pendant toute I'année, et un recu pour fin dimpot
vous sera envoyé. Veuillez libeller votre cheque
ala Société d'entomologie du Canada.

Donateurs et donatrices 2002

M. MacGillivray R. Shepherd
L. MacLauchlan J. Shorthouse
J. McLean S. Smith

L. Merrill T. Smith

T. Okubo A. Stevenson
|. Otvos J. Sweeney
D. Peschken J. Turgeon
B. Philogéne V. Vickery
T. Poland J. Webster
D. Quiring R. Westwood
L. Rankin D. Wood

B. Roitberg P. Wood

L. Royer

Et ceux et celles qui ont donné de facon

anonyme

Thewinnersof the Entomol ogical Society of Canada Graduate Research-Travel Grantsare Patrik
Nosil, Department of Biology, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, British Columbiaand TaraGariepy,
Department of Biology, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Patrik Nosil will
use the grant to travel to Californiato collect populations of Timema walking sticks as part of his
studies on the evolution of host races in phytophagous insects. Tara Gariepy will use the grant to
travel to Europe to collect specimens of Peristenus spp. in order to develop molecular marker tools
to aid in studies of non-target effects of exotic natural enemies.
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Application for membership (new members only)
Demande d’adhésion (nouveaux membres seulement)

Entomological Society of Canada / Société d'entomologie du Canada
393 Winston Ave., Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K2A 1Y8
Tel: (613) 725-2619, Fax: (613) 725-9349

Name & Address (please print): / Nom & Adresse (lettres moulées SVP) :

Telephone (bus.) / Téléphone (au travail) : ()

E-mail/courriel : Fax:( )

Keywords describing interest (up to six):
Décrivez vosintérésts en utilisant jusgu’ a six mots clés :

Membership isapersona affiliation; publications are the personal property of the individual member.
La cotisation est une affiliation personnelle; les publications payées ici appartiennent al'individu.

M ember ship Dues with / Cotisation avec

The Canadian Entomologist OPrint/Imprimé [ Web or/ou or/fou [ Both/Les deux
and/et Bulletin OPrint/Imprimé
O REGULAR/REGULIER Canada: $85.60 Cdn (GST/TPSincl.) or/ou
OR $92.00 Cdn (HST/TVHincl) e,
USA & Int'l:  $74.00 US or/fou $100.00 Cdn  ..cccovvvreeene.
[0 STUDENT / ETUDIANT Canada: $42.80 Cdn (GST/TPS incl.) or/ou

$46.00 Cdn (HST/TVH incl.)
USA & Int'l:  $36.00 US or/ou $45.00 Cdn

M ember ship with / Cotisation
Bulletin only/seulement O Print/Imprimé

O STUDENT / ETUDIANT Canada: $21.40 Cdn (GST/TPSiincl.) orfou  ....ccccveeneee.
$23.00 Cdn (HST/TVH incl.)
USA & Int'l:  $18.00 US or/ou $25.00 Cdn

Endorsement / Signature du ProfeSSEUN..........cceveeererererieeneesesee e

TOTAL PAID/ PAYE | |
Official receipt / regu officiel [ Yed/Oui

Name and contact information on the ESC Web Membership Directory? O Yes/Oui
Nom et vos coordonnées dans |’ annuaire Web de la SEC des membres? O No/Non

Cheqgue or money order payablein Canadian or US Funds as detailed above, through
Canadian or US Institution to the Entomological Society of Canada.
Cheque ou mandat poste payable ($ Canadiens ou US, ci-dessus) par établissement
canadien ou US a la Société d'entomologie du Canada.

O MASTERCARD O AMEX or/lou [0 VISA
Feeeee e Exp. Date ...... [...... SIGNALUFE. ...
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Book Reviews / Critiques de livres

SilveiraFA, Melo GAR, AlmeidaEAB. 2002.
AbelhasBrasileiras: Sisteméatica el dentificno.
Ministério do Meio Ambiente, Probio - PNUD,
Fundacno Araucéria. Belo Horizonte. 253 pp.
ISBN 85-903034-1-1 (paper) *US$30.00 (S&H
included). *North and Central American distri-
bution by Eduardo Almeida, Dept. of Entomol-
ogy, 3126 Comstock Hall, Cornell University,
Ithaca, NY - 14853

Brazil is one of the most biologically diverse
places on Earth, but only a very small propor-
tion of its biota, especially insects, has actually
been described. An exception to this would be
the bees of Brazil which are apparently well
known, having received the attention of several
of the world's prominent bee systematists and
biologists. Moreover, Brazil’smelittol ogistsand
ecologists have been leadersin global initiatives
in pollinator conservation, now aforefront con-
cern for the Convention on Biological Diversi-
ty. Therefore, this book Abelhas Brasileiras:
Sstemética e Identificno (Brazlian Bees: Sys-
tematics and | dentification) should be very use-
ful to entomol ogists, ecol ogistsand botanistsin-
terested in bee biology, taxonomy and pollination
studiesin Brazil.

Written in Portuguese, this volume presents
the bees of Brazil down to the level of subge-
nus. Like its counterpart, “ The Bee Genera of
North and Central America’ (Michener et al.,
1994; Smithsonian Institution Press), this vol-
ume provides a regional key for bee identifica-
tion. The book is soft-bound, but strong. The
cover is stiff and attractive, illustrating a small
array of the bees of Brazil. Thisisimportant for
a book that contains working keys which will
be used beside a binocular microscope. The pa-
per is high-quality, not shiny, and the print is
crisp and clear.

Part A of the book presents a well-illustrated
account and description of general bee anatomy
(Chapter 1), an informative description of col-
lection and preservation techniquesthat includes
specimensin alcohol and how to remove pollen,
resins, and gums (Chapter 2), an account of the
origins and biogeography of Brazilian bees
(Chapter 3), a general classification of bees
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(Chapter 4), and a brief introduction to the state
of knowledge about Brazilian bees (Chapter 5).

Part B of the book providesillustrated keys (al-
most 300 illustrations by M. Fatima Seleme Za-
gonel) for identification of Brazilian bees, includ-
ing a key to family level (Chapter 6). The
subsequent chapters (7-11) provide keys to sub-
families, tribes, subtribes, genera, and subgenera
of Andrenidae, Apidae, Colletidae, Halictidae, and
Megachilidae, respectively. Many of the morpho-
logical characters described in the text are illus-
trated to allow the user to understand exactly what
isuseful and to distinguish key features. In addi-
tion, illustrationsfall within apage or two of their
mention, which facilitates their ease of use asone
does not have to flip far to find them.

The taxonomy primarily follows Michener’'s
Bees of the World (2000 - Johns Hopkins Press).
Differences lie primarily in the classification of
theApidae, tribeApini. Theclassification followed
here placesfour previoudy recognized tribes (Api-
ni, Bombini, Euglossini, and Meliponini) into
subtribes of Apini. The other major differenceis
the recognition of the subfamily Paracolletinae
(Colletidae), containing genera recently placed
back into the Colletinae by Michener (2000).
Smaller differences lie in the recognition of sev-
eral genera described as subgenera by Michener,
leading to much higher numbers of recognized
genera (eg., 27 versus 10 genera of meliponine
bees). In total, 202 genera are recognized from
Brazil, including three proposed since the publi-
cation by Michener (2000). A list of species pres-
ently described from Brazil (more than 1500) are
included with the generic/subgeneric descriptions,
with citations for species level taxonomic keys.
At theend isafive-page glossary (Part C), an ex-
tensive bibliography (Part D), and a taxonomic
index (Part E).

The Preface, by Padre Jesus Santiago Moure,
who may be considered the father of Brazilian
melittology praises this book for the important
contribution that it is. All in al, the authors, the
illustrator, and the publishers are to be congratu-
lated heartily for the preparation of an excellent
publication, not just for its scientific content and
scope, but also for the quality of production.

Cory Sheffield and Peter Kevan

University of Guelph
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Membres faisant la manchette

Entomologists receive the Order of Canada
The following was taken, in large part, from the website of the Governor General of Canada,

Geoffrey G. E. Scudder

Vancouver, British Columbia

His reputation for excellence is far-reaching. An entomologist, he is a
world authority known for important research, including the discovery
that certain species can help track the effects of environmental degrada-
tion and global warming. He served as head of the University of British
Columbia's renowned Department of Zoology for 15 years and has held
other leadership roles, notably president of the ESC (1986-1987) and of
the Canadian Society of Zoologists (1989-1990). In addition, heis very
active in promoting conservation, particularly in BC, where he is in-
volved with numerous biodiversity projects. He was elected as a Fellow
of the ESC in 1977, and he was awarded the ESC Gold Medal in 1975.
He was appointed as a Member of the Order of Canadaon 1 May 2002. Geoffrey Scudder

Victor Arnold Dyck

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan and Vienna, Austria

He is a respected entomologist whose life's work has had a positive effect on insect pest control
practices around the world. A specialist in agricultural research and the use of Sterile Insect Tech-
nique, he led the Agriculture Canada codling moth research project in the Okanagan Valley, which
had a major impact on the fruit tree industry of BC. His consulting work in Zanzibar helped to
eliminate their tsetse fly population. Currently a consultant for the International Atomic Energy
Agency, he has contributed, through his enthusiasm, his research abilities and his leadership skills,
to the devel opment of the agricultural and economic sectors of many countries. He was appointed as
aMember of the Order of Canada on 30 May 2001.

Samuel Loschiavo

Winnipeg, Manitoba

A highly respected entomologist, he has made major contributions to Canadian society through his
innovative research work. His studies were instrumental in improving the storage capability and
quality of prairie cereals used worldwide today. His inventions have been adopted, and are being
used in research programs and practical applicationsin many
countries. A longtime volunteer in his province's social and
cultural arts communities, he founded or co-founded such in-
stitutions as the Italian Canadian League of Manitoba Me-
morial Foundation and Winnipeg's Folklorama. He has served
on the Board of Directors of many organizations including
VillaRosa, Manitoba Folk Arts Council, Citizenship Council
of Manitoba, Manitoba Historical Society and granting agen-
cies. Heserved as President of ESC in 1980-81, and was el ected
as a Fellow of the ESC in 1988. Earlier, he was President of
the Entomological Society of Manitobain 1966-67, andelected ~ Sam Loschaivo receiving the Or-
as Honourary Member in 1988. He was appointed asaMem-  der of Canada from the Gover-

ber of the Order of Canada on 15 November 2000. nor General of (_:anada, Her Ex-
cellency, The Right Honourable

Adrienne Clarkson.
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Our Heritage / Notre patrimoine

By Lazlo (Les) Magasi

Just what was FIDS?

ne of the side effects of becoming old-
Oer is that one gets asked things like

“Would you write something on the his-
tory of FIDS?’ Gladly. However, | must start by
pointing out that the trouble with history is that
the beginning of almost any story isshrouded in
clouds, poor records and poorer memories- and
that | was not there at the beginning.

What about FIDS, the Forest Insect and Dis-
ease Survey, or, simply (and affectionately) just
“the Survey” ? The group survived for 60 of the
100 years of the Canadian Forest Service - the
longest uninterrupted project in CFS history,
which by itself isaremarkable achievement. This
story is mainly about the Atlantic Region.

In the early 1930s, the European spruce saw-
fly was happily chomping itsway through thou-
sands and thousands of acres (in those days it
was acres) of primematureforestsinthe Mariti-
mes and parts of Quebec. In 1936, the Domin-
ion Entomological Laboratory, Fredericton, was
responsible for forest insect investigations (and
agricultural insects) not just in New Brunswick
and Prince Edward I dland, but also in the Gaspé.
Some people thought it important to “track the

Les Magasi is a mycologist who was head of
the FIDSunit in Fredericton from 1974 to 1996.
He was a student in forestry at Sopron Univer-
sity in Hungary when Hungary rebelled against
Communist rule. The entire forestry school was
brought to British Columbia under the spon-
sorship of UBC. Les received his BSc Forestry
and MSc from UBC, and PhD from New York
Sate Universityin Syracuse. Heretired in 1997,
but maintains hisinterest in forestry. Thisarti-
clewaswritten for the Atlantic Forestry Centre
in-house newsletter Out on aLimb in celebra-
tion of the 1999 Canadian Forestry Service Cen-
tennial “ A century of innovative solutions”.
Adapted for the Bulletin by Doug Eidt.
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outbreak”, so in 1936, following lengthy corre-
spondence between R.E. Balch, Officer-in-
Charge of the Fredericton Laboratory, and J.J.
de Gryse, Ottawa, the Canadian Forest Insect
Survey was established. During that first year,
“Mr. Balch wasin general charge... assisted by
Messers Bennett and Patterson and several sea-
sonal helpers’, and they submitted two samples
to Ottawa. That's how it all started.

In 1939, the Forest Insect Survey collected
1312 samples, when the unit was directed by
Reg Balch and staffed by Lloyd Hawboldt (in
charge) and four part-timers. Fredericton oper-
ated asone of threelaboratoriesin Canada. Sub-
sequently, FIDS units were established in other
regions and national reportswere produced from
1936 to 1995, constituting an invaluable record
of population gradations and outbreaks. But this
story is about FIDS in the Maritimes.

In addition to the Maritimes, Fredericton also
looked after Newfoundland from 1944 (5 years
before Newfoundland becameaprovince of Can-
ada) until 1959, when the Corner Brook Labo-
ratory was recognized as a separate functional
FIDS unit under the direction of Joe Carroll.
Survey activitieswere continued on asomewhat
reduced scal e during the early 40s, “ dueto diffi-
culties arising out of uncontrollable conditions
created by the national emergency”, amuchun-
derstated reference to the Second World War.

Thingsstarted to pick up after thewar... ... and
therethey were, rambling alongin asurplusarmy
truck, Canada's decommissioned veterans, sol-
diers, sailors, airmen and merchant marines.
They wereready - just ayear after the cessation
of hogtilities - to protect the Canadian forests as
thefirst crop of Rangersof the Forest Insect and
Disease Survey in the Atlantic Region. Times
changed and others followed, but that was the
real start.

The Rangers were aways the heart and soul
of FIDS operations. The first Ranger ever hired
was Jerry Moran in 1946 (alieutenant seriously
wounded in Normandy on D-Day). He later be-
camethefirst and only Chief Ranger ever in the
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FIDS work conference at Fredericton, 1992

Front row: Mike Power, Newfoundland Forest Research Centre, St. John’s; Denis LaChance,
Laurentian Forest Research Centre, Québec; Les Magasi, Maritimes Forest Research
Centre, Fredericton; Les Carlson, HQ, Ottawa; Ed Hurley, Fredericton; Bruce Pendrel,
Fredericton. Back row: Ben Moody HQ; Herb Cerezke, Northern Forest Research Centre,
Edmonton; John Hudak, Newfoundland Forest Research Centre; Gordie Howse, Great
Lakes Forest Research Centre, Sault Ste. Marie; Al Van Sickle, Pacific Forest Research

Centre, Victoria.

Maritimes. Other Rangers that year were Ken
Fraser, Jim Seaton and Lawney Williams. The
first Ranger with both insect and disease survey
responsibilities was Carl Burlock in 1966, the
first francophone Ranger Regis Cormier in 1984,
the first Ranger with a university degree Wayne
MacKay in 1980, and the first Ranger with a
forestry degree - and aso the last Ranger ever
hired, in 1992 - was Gérard Lemieux. (Wetried
but never managed to hirethefirst female Rang-
er - that distinction belongs to FIDS - Pecific).
In 1951, “it was decided that...the results of
the combined [insect and disease] surveysshould
be presented in a single report”, so the Forest
Disease Survey was officially recognized, and
the first annual report written by Mert Stillwell,
aforest pathologist at Fredericton. Although of-
ficidly still separate for another decade, there
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was much cooperation with the Insect Survey
and when the Forest Insect and Disease Survey
wasformalized in 1962, it was already just that.

Some of the major developmentswithin FIDS
included: the establishment of a sub-laboratory
in Nova Scotia in 1947, first at Halifax, then in
1951 in permanent quarters at Debert; the in-
ception in 1951 of an organized Forest Disease
Survey; theincorporation of acoding system and
the installation in 1952 of punch-card business
machines at Fredericton; the opening of a new
laboratory at Corner Brook and the establish-
ment in 1959 of independent FIDS operations
in Newfoundland.

Identification and rearing operationswere cen-
tralized at Fredericton and the Nova Scotia seg-
ment was moved to Truro in 1966. Punch-card
records were computerized in 1967. Five posi-
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tionswerelost in the sweeping “deadwood” |ay-
offs of 1969. Pest Detection Officer programs
for provincial and industrial cooperators were
established in New Brunswick in 1973, and in
Nova Scotia and Prince Edward |sland soon af-
ter. FIDS was moved from the overcrowded for-
estry laboratory to off-site rented quarters in
1974, the ‘exile’ ending in 1988 with the com-
pletion of the Hugh John Flemming Forestry
Complex. FIDS survived numerous audits, re-
views, investigationsand changesin strategic di-
rectionsfrom the mid 60s until early 1995 when
the remnants became the foundation upon which
the Forest Health Network was built.

Responsibility for the operation of the Sur-
vey inthe Maritimesrested with Reginald Balch
in 1937, Lloyd Hawboldt from 1938 to 1943,
Ed Reeks from 1944 to 1955, Bob Forbes from
1956 to 1974 and Les Magasi from 1974 to the
end, in 1996.

During its 60 years of operation in the Mariti-
mes FIDS had over 70 staff members, over 100
students, many temporary assistants and hun-
dredsand hundreds of federal, provincial, indus-
trial, municipal, educational and private cooper-
ators. They all contributed - in countless ways -
to abetter understanding of the forestry, biolog-
ical and environmental sciences, to theimprove-
ment of forest management and to the protec-
tion of the forest environment.

Bulletin of the Entomological Society of Canada

Recently deceased
Compiled by Ed Becker

Stuart G. Brown, husband of Marguerite, #205,
920 Glenwood Ave., Kelowna BC V1Y PP2,
(250) 860-6482, died on 8 September 2002, at
age 85. Stuart used to work with the old Plant
Protection Division, first in Victoria, thenin Ot-
tawa from 1961 until retirement.

DaphneT. Fairey, age 57, wife of Nigel, P. O.
Box 844, Beaverlodge AB TOH 0CO, (780) 354-
8715, died on 6 March 2003 from abrain tumor.
Daphne worked for several years at the Leth-
bridge Research Station on |eaf cutting bees and
was a member of the ESC.

Cal Sullivan, husband of Marjorie, 80 Indian
Rd., Sault Ste. Marie ON P6A 4Y 5, (705) 253-
8419, died on 27 March 2003 at age 77. Cal spent
his career (38 years) at the Great Lakes Forest
Research Centre asaResearch Scientist and Pro-
gram Manager.

Maurie Taylor, husband of Doris, 3319 Har-
rington St., Saskatoon SK S7H 3Y 2, (306) 374-
7180, died on 9 April 2003, at age 87. For 30
years he was at the Dominion Entomological
Laboratory (now Agriculture and Agri-Food
Canada), Saskatoon. Initially hewasengaged in
research into the biology and control of cut-
worms and armyworms in field crops. From
1961 until retirement he was extension entomol-
ogist and scientific liaison officer at theresearch
station.

The Canadian Entomologist and past issues of
the Memoairs are available from the Ottawa of -
fice, and may be purchased by Mastercard, Visa,
cheque or money order.
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Harold Stulz
1902-2003

A.T. Lightfoot

arold Stultz was born in Saint John,
H N.B., in 1902. His family moved to
Chrystal Springs Farm, Steeves Settle-
ment, in 1922. Following his early education in
Saint John and Havelock he attended the Pro-
vincial Normal School. He graduated from Aca-
diaUniversity withaBA in 1928, then did grad-
uate studies at Osborne Zoology L aboratory, Yale
University, from 1928-1930. From 1930 to 1933
he taught Nature Study at Greenwich Country
Day School, Greenwich, Conn. At this time he
developed an interest in the theory of economic
entomology and decided he would be a profes-
sional entomologist in Canada. He entered Mac-
donald College in 1933, completing his gradu-
ate studiesin 1937.

Harold'sprofessiona entomological career be-
gan at the Dominion Entomological Laboratory
in Annapolis Royal, N.S., in 1935. Later the
headquarters moved to Kentville where he re-
mained until retiring in 1968. The major portion
of his career was devoted to studying a number
of species of Lepidoptera. He extensively stud-
ied the bionomics of the codling moth. In the
1930's this pest had become a serious problem
for apple growersin other parts of theworld due
mainly to the failure of arsenical sprays. An up-
surge of this pest in parts of the Annapolis Val-
ley caused alarm. Harold undertook a detailed
study of the biology of this pest, including the
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In Memory / En souvenir de

By June Herbert

effectiveness of lead arsenate applied at differ-
ent timesfor control, and its parasites and pred-
ators. The entomological team at the laboratory
wasthen encouraged to undertake extensive stud-
ies on the relationship of sprays to an increase
in pest problems thus initiating the ecological
studies on the faunain apple orchards in gener-
al. This became known as the integrated pest
control program to permit maximum effective-
ness of natural enemies and the minimum use of
chemical sprays. Harold's contributions to this
program included astudy of the natural enemies
of the eye-spotted bud moth, life history and
natural control of the pale apple leaf roller, and
the spotted tentiform leaf miner. He carried out
afall survey of apple aphid specieswhich served
to alert growers to current conditions and to the
best time to apply controls.

In relationship with the certification program
of the strawberry-growing industry, he surveyed
strawberry fields in the Maritimes to determine
which of the known aphid species and leaf roll-
er vectors of the strawberry virus disease were
present. This led to aphid controls to improve
the disease-free certification program. Harold
also studied field mice and their damage to ap-
ple trees. His early warning system led to mice
suppression to manageable levels.

Following hisretirement he was employed for
six months in 1969 with the Nova Scotia De-
partment of Agricultureto compilethefirst fruit
tree protection guide for use by fruit growers.
The following summer, the provincial govern-
ment called upon Harold to serve as Extension
Entomol ogist for hisknowledge of fruit tree pests
and diseases. Thisfriend and benefactor of agri-
culture was an encyclopedic source of informa-
tion for colleagues at the Research Station, for
extension entomol ogists, and for many growers.

He also made invaluable contributions to his
church and community; the most outstanding as
director of the Kings Branch of the Children’s
Aid Society/Family and Children’s Service for
42 years. Harold died at the age of 100 yearson
10 March 2003.
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539 Annual General Meeting and Governing Board Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Entomological Society of Canada will be held at The Grand
Okanagan Lakefront Resort and Conference Centre, Kelowna B.C. on Tuesday, 4 November 2003
at 16:30. The Governing Board Meeting will be held at the same location on Saturday, 1 November
2003 from 8:30to 17:00. Mattersfor consideration at either of the above meetings should be sent to
Rick West, Secretary of the ESC.

Action items from the mid-term executive council meeting
By Rick West, Secretary

The following items were identified for action at the 12 April 2003 meeting of the Executive Coun-
cil.

Treasurer

Due to declines in institutional subscribers, individual memberships and exchange rates, revenues
will haveto increase to maintain balanced budgets. The Executive requested areview of production
costs for the Bulletin to identify areas where costs can be reduced. Action: R. Lamb, P. Fields.

ESC Headquarters Committee

Roof repairs were made in 2002, and interior repairs to water damage will be contracted in 2003.
The Executive Council authorized V. Behan-Pelletier to contract work under $5000. Action: V.
Behan-Pelletier.

Finance Committee
President Smith will appoint a new Chair of the Finance Committee. Action: S. Smith.

Fee structure for individual and institutional members

Extra costs result from members who wish to receive both hard copy and online versions of The
Canadian Entomologist. B. Roitberg moved and S. Smith seconded that a surcharge of $10.00 be
charged to members who want to receive both online and hard copy versions of The Canadian
Entomologist. This motion was approved by e-mail ballot by the Board in May 2003. Carried.
Action: G. Gibson.

The e-version of the journa has value-added content and institutional subscriptions may fall as a
result of the availability of electronic access. It is important that the cost-structure for institutions
covers costs of publication and distribution. B. Roitberg moved and C. Vincent seconded that the
following cost-structure for institutional subscribers of The Canadian Entomologist be applied:

Canadian Subscribers Foreign Subscribers
Printed version only:  200.00 (Cdn) 200.00 (USD)
E-version only: 200.00 (Cdn) 200.00 (USD)
Printed + e-version: ~ 300.00 (Cdn) 300.00 (USD)

This motion was approved by e-mail ballot by the Board in May 2003. Carried. Action: G. Gib-
son. The cost-structure for 2004 must be in place by 31 July 2003.
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Renewal form for institutions for new products and cost structure
The Publications Committee is charged with producing a renewal form for ingtitutionsin consulta-
tion with G. Gibson, emphasizing value-added benefits. Action: A. Carroll, G. Gibson.

Scientific Editor
President Smith will contact J. Turgeon to discuss NRC notification of subscribers advising them of
when anew issueisonline. Action: S. Smith, J. Turgeon.

Search for a new Editor-in-Chief
J. Turgeon is leaving in December 2003. President Smith leads the search for a replacement. Ac-
tion: S. Smith.

Editor - Bulletin
B. Lyonsis reguested to send an e-mail to members advising them when a new issue of the Bulletin
isonline. Action: B. Lyons.

Web site
G. Gibson requested links to subscription information and purchasing Memoirs and copies of Dis-
eases and Insect Pests of Viegetable Crops in Canada. Action: B. Lyons.

Password access to Bulletin

The Publications committee recommends that all issues, including current issue, be available to
non-members. At last year's meeting in April 2002, the Executive Council agreed that accessto full
Bulletin content be for membersonly. At present, only the current e-issue of the Bulletin isrestrict-
ed to members by password. Archival e-issues are freely available. However, in view of the recom-
mendation of the Publications Committee, and the need for institutional subscribers to have ready
access to current issues of the Bulletin, R. Lamb moved and C. Vincent seconded that all issues of
the Bulletin be made freely available on the web site. Carried. Action: B. Lyons.

Minutes and December Bulletin

In order to reduce the size (and cost) of the December Bulletin, board meeting minutes and full
reports will be made available to members on the web site and, for members who do not have
internet access, by written request to the ESC office. A noticeto thiseffect will appear in the Decem-
ber Bulletin along with a summary of the actions arising from the meetings. Action: P. Fields, R.
West, B. Lyons, S. Devine.

Electronic publishing with NRC Press
President Smith will discuss any problems with J. Turgeon. Some minor glitches such as non-
recognition of diacritic marks persist. Action: S. Smith.

Copyright and license to publish in The Canadian Entomologist and the Bulletin
The Publications Committee is charged with producing a copyright and licence to publish form for
the Bulletin, similar to the form already produced for The Canadian Entomologist. Action: Allan
Carrall.

Legal issues regarding copyright, Bell and Howell
President Smith will draft a letter to be sent from the ESC office to persons wishing to copy or
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reprint articles which have appeared in the journal advising them that the Society does not own
copyright and that they must contact authors directly. Action: S. Smith.

Conditions of use document

Before accessing documents and photos provided at the ESC web site, a “conditions of use” ac-
knowledgement needsto be made by the user. The Publications Committeeis charged with produc-
ing a“conditions of use” document by 31 May 2003 in consultation with J. Turgeon, G. Gibson, C.
Vincent (photos) and B. Lyons. Action: A. Carroll

Testing of new institutional policies
Testing of new ingtitutional policieswill be carried out shortly in consultation with J. Turgeon, NRC
and S. Devine. Action: G. Gibson.

Approval of NRC-proposed link to ESC
J. Turgeon isworking with NRC to provide alink to the ESC web site from The Canadian Entomol -
ogist site. Action: J. Turgeon.

Translation of Society documents
R. Lamb will contact L. Royer regarding sources who can translate Society documents at a reason-
ablecost. Action: R. Lamb. Trandlation of Society documentsisahigh priority. Action: L. Royer.

Bylaws, Rules and Regulations Committee
Society documentswill be sent to B. Lyonsfor posting under the members' section on the web site.
Action: R. West, B. Lyons

Membership Committee
The committee will review benefits for honorary members and recommend any changes to the
Executive Council and Bylaws, Rules and Regulations Committee. Action: J. Sweeney.

Separate English and French membership forms need to be produced by the Membership Commit-
tee in consultation with G. Gibson. Action: J. Sweeney.

The Committee is requested to contact the Regional Directors for access to the membership lists of
the Affiliated Societies and Peter Kevan (Entomol-L) regarding solicitation of new memberships.
Action: J. Sweeney.

A member of the Executive Council will contact federal bureaucratsto discuss waysin which mem-
berships could be paid for through, e.g., A-base and educational funding. Action: S. Smith.

Survey of members

C. Vincent moved and R. Lamb seconded that the survey drafted by the Committee for distribution
to members be approved and distributed in both official languages by e-mail and through the web
site. Carried. Action: J. Sweeney, B. Lyons.

Policies to encourage amateur entomologists to join the ESC

The Executive Council recommended that J. Sweeney and L. Braun contact the SEQ through the
Regional Director, N. Larocque, to determine if any of the actions carried out by the SEQ to attract
amateur entomologists could be applied to the ESC. Action: J. Sweeney, L. Braun, N. Larocque.
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Student Awards Committee
The Executive Council requeststhat the Committee draft anew application form. Action. D. Gillespie.

Conference Travel Award guidelines

The Fund-raising Committee needs to establish the Conference Travel Award in consultation with
the Student Awards committee which has aready produced a draft of the award guidelines. Action:
N. Bostanian, D. Gillespie.

Science Policy Committee
The Canadian Society of Zoologists has requested that the ESC write a letter to the NRC encourag-
ing Canadato rejoin the International Union of Biological Societies. Action: R. Lamb.

Photo copyright and use on web site

Following advice from an Agriculture Agri-Food Canadalawyer to C. Vincent, the Executive Coun-
cil recommends that, before access to photos on the web site, an agreement be made that photos not
be resold. C. Vincent will provide B. Lyons with the conditions of use for access to web photos
within two months. Action: C. Vincent.

Student Affairs Committee

The committee should contact T. Shore to discuss ways in which students with similar research
interests can meet and to post ajob/CV board, if that is the wish of the Student Affairs Committee.
The Committee is requested to clarify whether or not it is recommending that student CV's be in-
cluded on the web site or whether that this is just an idea that is being considered. Action: T.
M ousseau.

Marketing strategy for The Canadian Entomologist

The Executive directed the Marketing Committee to devel op amarketing strategy for The Canadian
Entomol ogist and to provide an update on the university class exercise that was developing a ESC
marketing strategy. Action: L. Braun.

PowerPoint presentation of Society activities
A PowerPoint presentation will be prepared in time for presentation to the Board in fall 2003.
Action: L. Braun.

Discount for members to attend annual meeting

P. de Groot is asked to negotiate a differential fee structure for registration at the 2004 Annual
Meeting with the AES. A fee structure for the 2003 meeting has been set with the ESBC and is
posted at http://esbc.harbour.com/registration2003.html.

Action: P. de Groot.

Maintaining entomological information and databases provided by members on
the web site

R. Lamb reported that several repositories for archival entomologically-related information were
being discontinued and that there was a need to protect such information. The Publications Commit-
teeischarged, in consultation with R. Lamb , D. Eidt, and B. Lyons, with recommending whether or
not to maintain archival information such as databases, species lists and technical notes on the web
site. Action: A. Carroll, R. Lamb, D. Eidt, B. Lyons.
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Committee and Representatives
Comités et représentants

Standing committees
Comités permanents

Nominations / Nominations
B. Roitberg, Chair, Burnaby
R. Bennett, Victoria

J. Delide, Ste.-Foy

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Elections / Elections

R. Hallett, Chair, Guelph

J. MacIntyre-Allen, Guelph
A. Martin, Guelph

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Continuing committees
Comités en cours

Achievement Awards

Prix d’excellence

C. Vincent, Chair, St.-Jean-sur-Richelieu
Y. Pelletier, Fredericton

R. Roughley, Winnipeg

J. Spence, Edmonton

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Annual Meeting / Réunion Annuelle
P. de Groot, Chair, Sault Ste. Marie
S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Bilingualism / Bilinguisme

L. Royer, Chair, Corner Brook

H. Chiasson, St.-Jean-sur-Richelieu
M. Roy, Québec

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Bylaws, Rules & Regulations
Reglements

M. Goettel, Chair, Lethbridge

G. Boiteau, Fredericton

N. Holliday, Winnipeg

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto
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Finance / Finance

P. Bouchard, Chair, Ottawa
P. Mason, Ottawa

D. Parker, Ottawa

M. Sarazin, Ottawa

G. Gibson, Treasurer, Ottawa
S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Fund Raising / Levée de fonds
N. Bostanian, Chair, St.-Jean-sur-Richelieu

Headquarters / Siege social
V. Behan-Pelletier, Chair, Ottawa
J. Cumming, Ottawa

G. Gibson, ex officio, Ottawa

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Heritage / Patrimoine

D. Eidt, Chair, Fredericton
E. Becker, Ottawa

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Insect Common Names

Noms communs d’insectes

H. Chiasson, Chair, St.-Jean-sur-Richelieu
M. Roy, Ste.-Foy

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Marketing / Comité du marketing
L. Braun, Chair, Saskatoon

H. White, Winnipeg

O. Olfert, Saskatoon

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Membership / Adhésion

J. Sweeney, Chair, Fredericton

R. Elliot, ESS, Saskatoon

D. Giberson, AES, Charlottetown
D. Hunt, ESO, Harrow

N. Larocque, SEQ

P. MacKay, ESM, Winnipeg

G. Pohl, ESA, Edmonton

T. Shore, ESBC, Victoria

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto
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Comités et représentants

Publications / Publications

A. Carroll, Chair, Victoria

R. Bennett, Victoria

G. Boivin, St.-Jean-sur-Richelieu

P. de Groot, Sault Ste. Marie

L. Gilkeson, Victoria

P. Kevan, Guelph

P. Fields, ex officio, Winnipeg

D. Lyons, ex officio, Sault Ste. Marie
S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

J. Turgeon, ex officio, Sault Ste. Marie

Science Policy and Education
Politique scientifique et éducation
R. Lamb, Chair, Winnipeg

G. Boiteau, AES, Deer Lake

R. Bourchier, ESA, Lethbridge

K. Davey, Downsview

P. Kevan, Guelph

R. Elliot, ESS, Saskatoon

D. Hunt, ESO, Harrow

N. Larocque, SEQ

P. MacKay, ESM, Winnipeg

T. Shore, ESBC, Victoria

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Student Affairs / Affaires étudiantes
T. Mousseau, Chair, Winnipeg

B. Sarauer, Saskatoon

C. Schmidt, Edmonton

D. Gillespie, ex officio, Agassiz

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Student Awards

Prix aux étudiantes et étudiants
D. Gillespie, Chair, Agassiz

J. Delise, Ste.-Foy

D. Currie, Toronto

N. Holliday, Winnipeg

D. Larson, St. John's

J. Myers, Vancouver

T. Whedler, Ste-Anne-de-Bellevue

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

Volume 35(2), juin 2003

Ad hoc Committees
Comités ad hoc

Joint Meeting Document
Document du congres conjoint
T. Shore, Chair, Victoria

J. Sweeney, Fredericton

S. Smith, ex officio, Toronto

53¢ L'assemblée générale annuelle et la
réunion du comité directeur

L’ Assemblée générale annuelle de la Société
d'entomologie du Canada aura lieu au Grand
Okanagan Lakefront Resort and Conference
Centre, Kelowna C.-B. le mardi 1 novembre
20032416 h 30. LaRéunion du comitédirecteur
de laSEC auralieu au méme endroit e samedi,
1 novembre 2003 de 8 h 30 a 17 h 00. Veuillez
faire part au secrétaire, Rick West, de tout sujet
pouvant faire I’ objet de discussion a ces réun-
ions.

Nominations Committee Report
The following have been nominated and agreed
to stand for election in 2003:
Second Vice President:

Neil Holliday, Dan Quiring
Director-at-Large:

Rose De Clerck-Floate, Staffan Lindgren

Erratum

The photos of Charles J. S. Bethune and Wil-
liam Saunders were mislabeled in the last issue
(Bulletin of the ESC 35(1): 17). The photointhe
center isWilliam Saunders CMG LLD, and the
photo on theright is Charles J. S. Bethune MA
DCL. Thanks to eagle-eyed John Garland for
noting this error.
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Joint Annual Meeting of
The Entomological Society of Canada and
The Entomological Society of British Columbia

The Grand Okanagan Lakefront
Resort and Conference Centre
Kelowna B.C., November 1 -5, 2003

On behalf of the Entomological Societies of British
Columbia and Canada we cordially invite you to attend
the Joint Annual Meeting to be held in the beautiful Okan-
agan Valley of British Columbia

The Grand Okanagan is a spectacular facility on the shores of Okanagan Lake in the down-
town area of Kelowna. We have negotiated an excellent room rate with the hotel ($99 regular,
$135 suite) and encourage you to stay there and to tell them you are with the Entomology
Society of Canada conference. It is this room subscription that enables the organizers to pro-
vide this caliber of facility. Hotel reservations can be made at (800) 465-4651, or see their
website at http://www.grandokanagan.com/.

The Okanagan Valley isthewine, fruit and recreation centre of British Columbiaand provides
ahost of extracurricular activities. Kelownaisathriving city with apopulation of about 100,000.
Itiseasily accessible viaseveral mgjor airlinesincluding Air Canada and WestJet, or is approx-
imately afive-hour drive from Vancouver.

For information on some socia activities associated with the meeting including dining, wine
tours and golf, see http://www.corkandcaddie.com/ESBCIJAM.htm.

The theme for this meeting will be Insects in Shifting Environments. This theme is meant to
focus on two similar and topical issues: 1) invasive species ‘ shifting' to new environments and
effecting a change, and 2) impacts on insects of ‘shifting' environments such as climate or
anthropogenic changes.

Several additional meetings are scheduled to take place in conjunction with the JAM includ-
ing the Canadian Forum for Biocontrol, Western Forum on Pest Management, Western Commit-
tee on Crop Pests, Western Committee on Plant Diseases, and Mountain Pine Beetle Symposi-
um.

Keep an eye on our meeting webpage for further information as we continue to develop the
program. It can be reached through the Entomological Society of British Columbia webpage at
http://esbc.harbour.com/ or the Entomological Society of Canadawebpage at http://esc-sec.org.
For further information contact:

Terry Shore

JAM 2003 Organizing Chair

Canadian Forest Service

506 West Burnside Road

Victoria, British Columba, Canada V8Z 1M5
Telphone: (250) 363-0666

E-mail: tshore@pfc.forestry.ca
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Joint Annual Meeting

Tentative Program
Saturday, November 1

08:30-17:00 ESC Governing Board Meeting
Contact: Rick West, Secretary, ESC
Sunday, November 2

13:00-14:15  Opening Session, ESC Awards, Gold Medal Address
14:30-16:30 Plenary Session: Insects in Shifting Environments
Moderator: Bernie Roitberg (Simon Fraser University)
19:00-21:00 President's Reception (By invitation)
18:00-22:00  Student Mixer (no-host bar and food, Kelowna Curling Club)

Monday, November 3

08:30-11:00  Symposium A: Adaptations and constraints:
A symposium in honour of Richard Ring
Moderators:  Robb Bennett (BC Ministry of Forests)
Neville Winchester (U. of Victoria)
Symposium B: Insect responses to climate change: Plausible scenarios and their
implications
Moderator: Richard Fleming (CFS, Sault Ste-Marie)
11:00-13:00 Poster Session: Contributed and President's Prize
Lunch provided
13:00-16:30 Workshop A: Resistance of two kinds: Insecticides and host plants
Organizers:  Yvan Pelletier (AAFC, Fredericton)
C. Vincent (AAFC, St-Jean-sur-Richelieu)
(vincentch@agr.gc.ca)
President's Prize Papers — Concurrent Sessions
19:30-20:30  Student Reception —Wine Museum
20:30-22:30  General Reception —Wine Museum

Tuesday, November 4

08:30-11:00  Symposium C: Introduced species: Friends and foes and those we do not know

Moderator: Judy Myers (UBC)
Symposium D: Biodiversity

Moderator: Geoff Scudder (Emeritus, UBC)

11:00-12:30  Contributed Papers — Concurrent Sessions

12:30-13:30  Lunch (on your own)

13:30-15:00 Symposium E: Graduate Student Symposium
Moderator: Jacques Brodeur (Université Laval)

13:30-16:30  Workshop B: Ecology and structure of aphid populations
Organizers: Kevin Floate (AAFC, Lethbridge) (floatek@agr.gc.ca)

Bob Lamb (AAFC, Winnipeg) (rlamb@agr.gc.ca)
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Joint Annual Meeting

Tuesday, November 4

13:30-16:30 Workshop C:  Temperate Fruit Flies: ecology, behaviour, and
management
Organizer: Howard Thistlewood (AAFC, Summerland)
(thistlewood@agr.gc.ca)

13:30-16:30  Contributed Papers — Concurrent Sessions

16:30-17:30 ESC Annua General Meeting

18:30-19:30  No host bar

19:30-22:00 Banquet and Entertainment

Wednesday, November 5

09:00-10:00 Heritage Lecture: Richard Ring
10:00-10:30 ESBC Annua Genera Meeting
10:30-12:00  Contributed Papers — Concurrent Sessions

Associated meetings
Thursday, October 30 Mountain Pine Beetle Symposium

Friday, October 31 ~ Contact: Terry Shore (CFSVictoria)
tshore@pfc.forestry.ca

Thursday, October 30 Canadian Forum for Biological Control
08:30-17:00 Contact: Rose De Clerck-Floate (AAFC, Lethbridge)
float r.gc.ca

Friday, October 31-  Western Forum and Western Committees on Crop Pests
Saturday, November 1 and Plant Diseases
Contact: Hugh Philip (B.C. Ministry of Agr. and Fisheries, Kelowna)
hugh.philip@gems8.gov.bc.ca

The Grand Okanagan Lakefront Resort and Conference Centre Kelowna B.C.
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Joint Annual Meeting

CALL FOR SUBMITTED PAPERS AND POSTERS

This and additional information is available on: http://esbc.harbour.com/jam.html

DEADLINE: Postmarked 7 July 2003

Categories of presentation:
Oral presentation - Regular, President's Prize*
Poster presentation - Regular, President's Prize*

*Students are eligible for the President’s Prize (1 per session) if:
« Currently enrolled in a degree program or have graduated from a degree program since
the last annual meeting (October, 2002)
* Registered at the meeting and have indicated the wish to participate in this category at
the time the title and abstract were submitted
 The principal investigator and presenter of the paper or poster

Language: Presentations may be in French or English

Oral presentation: 12 min + 3 min questions and discussion

Presentations in PowerPoint are encouraged. To minimize potential incompatibilities between the
software versions you use to develop and we use to display these presentations, we recommend
limited use of animation, use of common Windowsfontsfor text and symbol fontsfor equations. Do
not mail your presentation but bring to meeting on diskette or CD after testing this copy on a
different machine. If using 35 mm dlides, please provide your own carousel. Please note method of
presentation when submitting your abstract.

Poster presentation:

Posters can be set up on Sunday morning (November 2) and left in place for the duration of the
meeting. Presenters are requested to attend their posters in particular during the designated poster
session on Monday (November 3) from 11:30 - 12:15.

Information required: 1) Author(s) name(s), 2) name of presenter, 3) address

4) title, 5) abstract, 6) category, 7) language of presentation, and 8) method of presentation (Power-
Point or 35 mm dlide). Submit thisinformation by e-mail, on diskette or CD (Word or WP format).
Abstracts should be 70 words or less. If longer than 70 words, the editors reserve the right to reduce
accordingly. If possible, please provide your information in both French and English. All abstracts
will be placed on the website.

Please submit to Chair, Scientific Program

Vince Nedlis

Pacific Forestry Centre

506 W. Burnside Road, Victoria

British Columbia, Canada V8Z 1M5

Telephone: (250) 363-0663

Fax: (250) 363-0775

E-mail: vnealis@pfc.forestry.ca or vnealis@nrcan.gc.ca
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Congres Conjoint des
Sociétés d'entomologie du Canada et
de la Colombie-Britannique

Le Grand Okanagan Lakefront Resort
et au Conference Centre,
Kelowna, C.-B., du 1-5 novembre 2003

Au nom des Soci étés d'entomol ogie de laColombie-
Britannique et du Canada, nous vousinvitons cordiale-
ment a assister au Congres annuel conjoint qui aura
lieu dans la splendide Vall ée de I'Okanagan en Colom-
bie-Britannique.

Le Grand Okanagan est un magnifique hotel sur les bords du lac Okanagan au centre-ville de
Kelowna. Gréce au nombre anticipé de réservati ons, nous avons négoci é des prix plus qu'avantageux
(chambre réguliére $99; suite $135) pour des chambres de cette qualité. Nous vous encourageons
donc a réserver dans cet hotel et a mentionner que vous venez a la conférence de la Société
d'entomologie du Canada. Les réservations pour I'hdtel peuvent se faire par tél éphone au numéro
sans frais (800) 465-4651 ou sur le site Internet de I'h6tel http://www.grandokanagan.com/.

LaVallée de I'Okanagan est le centre vinicole, fruitier et récréatif de la Colombie-Britannique et
offre un éventail d'activités. Kelowna est une cité prospere. Sa population est d'environ 100,000
habitants. Elle est facilement accessible viatoutesleslignes aériennes majeures y comprisAir Can-
ada et WestJet. Elle est approximativement a 5 heures de route de Vancouver.

Pour plus d'information sur les différentes activités social es associées au congres (repas, tour des
vignobles, et golf), veuillez consulter le site Internet suivant : http://www.corkandcaddie.com/
ESBCJAM .htm.

Le theme de ce congres sera les insectes dans des milieux changeants. Ce théme vise afaire le
point sur deux sujets similaires et d'actualité : 1) les especes envahissantes qui sétablissent dans de
nouveaux milieux en provogquant des changements, et 2) les impacts des changements comme le
climat ou les changements du milieu découlant de I'activité humaine sur les insectes.

Plusieurs autres réunions auront lieu conjointement avec le JAM. Ce sont |e Forum canadien pour
la lutte biologique, le Forum de I'Ouest sur la gestion des ravageurs, le Comité de I'Ouest sur les
ravageurs des cultures, le Comité de I'Ouest sur les maladies des plantes, et le Symposium sur le
dendroctone du pin ponderosa.

Consultez fréquemment le site Internet du congrés pour de plus amples renseignements puisque
I'on continuera a dével opper le programme. Vous pouvez accéder a ce site par le site Internet de la
Société d'entomol ogie de |a Colombie-Britannique (http://esbc.harbour.com/) ou celui de la Société
d'entomologie du Canada (http://esc-sec.org/).

Pour plus amples renseignements contacter :

Terry Shore

Président du comité organisateur JAM 2003
SCF, 506 West Burnside Road

Victoria CB, Canada V8Z 1M5

Téléphone: (250) 363-0666

Courriel: tshore@pfc.forestry.ca
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Congrés Conjoint

Programme provisoire
Samedi, 1 novembre

08:30-17:00 Réunion du comité directeur dela SEC
Contact : Rick West, Secrétaire, SEC
Dimanche, 2 novembre

13:00-14:15  Séance d'ouverture, prix et bourses de la SEC,
mot du récipiendaire de lamédaille d'or
14:30-16:30  Séance pléniére : Insectes dans des milieux changeants
Modérateur : Bernie Roitberg (Université Simon Fraser)
19:00-21:00  Réception du Président (sur invitation)
18:00-22:00  Soirée-rencontre des étudiants
(bar payant et hors-d'oauvres, Kelowna Curling Club)

Lundi, 3 novembre

08:30-11:00 Symposium A : Adaptations et contraintes :
Un symposium dédié a Richard Ring
Modérateurs: Robb Bennett (Ministére des foréts, CB)
Neville Winchester (U. de Victoria)
Symposium B : Réponses des insectes aux changements climatiques :
Scénarios possibles et leurs implications
Modérateur :  Richard Fleming (SCF, Sault Ste-Marie)
11:00-13:00  Séance des affiches : ordinaires et en compétition pour le prix du président
Diner fourni
13:00-16:30 Atelier A : Résistance de deux types : Insecticides et plantes-hotes
Organisateurs : Yvan Pelletier (AAC, Frédéricton)
C. Vincent (AAC, St-Jean-sur-Richelieu)
(vincentch@agr.gc.ca)
Présentation en compétition pour le prix du président — Séances concomitantes
19:30-20:30  Réception des étudiants— Musée du vin
20:30-22:30  Réception générale — Musée du vin

Mardi, 4 novembre

08:30-11:00 Symposium C : Especes introduites :
Amis, ennemis et ceux que I'on ne connait pas
Modérateur :  Judy Myers (UCB)
Symposium D : Biodiversité
Modérateur :  Geoff Scudder (Professeur émérite, UBC)
11:00-12:30  Présentations ordinaires — Séances concomitantes
12:30-13:30 Diner (avotre choix)
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Mardi, 4 novembre

13:30-16:30  Symposium E : Symposium des étudiants gradués
Modérator :  Jacques Brodeur (Université Laval)
13:30-16:30  Atelier B : Ecologie et structure des populations de pucerons
Organisateurs : Kevin Floate (AAC, Lethbridge), (floatek@agr.gc.ca)
Bob Lamb (AAC, Winnipeg), (rlamb@agr.gc.ca)
13:30-16:30  Atelier C: Atelier C : Les drosophiles des zones tempérées :
Ecologie, comportement et lutte
Organisateurs : Kevin Floate (AAC, Lethbridge), (floatek@agr.gc.ca)
Bob Lamb (AAC, Winnipeg), (rlamb@agr.gc.ca)
13:30-16:30  Présentations ordinaires — Séances concomitantes
16:30-17:30  Assemblée générale annuelle de la SEC
18:30-19:30 Bar payant
19:30-22:00 Banquet et réception

Mercredi, 5 novembre
09:00-10:00  Conférence du patrimoine : Richard Ring

10:00-10:30  Réunion générale annuelle de la SECB
10:30-12:00  Présentations ordinaires — Séances concomitantes

Réunions conjointes

Jeudi-vendredi, Symposium sur le dendroctone du pin ponderosa

30-31 octobre Contact : Terry Shore (SCF, Victoria)
tshore@pfc.forestry.ca

Jeudi, 30 octobre Forum canadien pour la lutte biologique

Contact : Rose De Clerck-Floate (AAC, Lethbridge)
floate@agr.gc.ca

Vendredi-samedi

31 octobre - 1ler novembre Forum et comitésde|'Ouest sur lesravageurs des cultures
et lesmaladies des plantes
Contact : Hugh Philip, (B.C Min. of Agr. and Fisheries, Kelowna)
hugh.philip@gems8.gov.bc.ca
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Congres Conjoint

INVITATION A SOUMETTRE DES COMMUNICATIONS
ET DES AFFICHES

Cette information est aussi disponible a: http://esbc.harbour.com/jam.html
DATELIMITE: Le 7 juillet 2003 (le cachet de la poste faisant foi)

Catégories de présentation :
Présentation orale — Ordinaire, Prix du président*
Présentation par affiches- Ordinaire, Prix du président*

*Pour étre admissible au Prix du président (1 par séance), vous devez sdtisfaire aux conditions
suivantes :
« Etre inscrit & un programme de deuxiéme ou troisiéme cycle ou avoir terminé un tel
programme aprés de dernier congres (octobre 2002)
« Etreinscrit ala conférence et indiquer le désir de participer dans cette catégorie lors de
la soumission de votre communication
« Etre le chercheur principal et le présentateur de I'exposé ou de |'affiche

Langue: Les présentations doivent étre en francais ou en anglais.

Présentation orale: 12 min + 3 min de questions et discussion

Nous vous encourageons a créer des présentations PowerPoint. Afin de minimiser les chances
d'incompatibilités entrelaversion de programme que vous utiliserez pour créer votre présentation et
celle qui serautilisée pour la présenter, nous vous conseillons de restreindre I'utilisation des anima-
tions, d'utiliser des caracteres communs d'édition de Windows pour |es textes et |es caractéres sym-
boles pour les équations. Ne postez pas votre présentation, apportez-la au congrés sur une dis-
quette ou un CD aprés avoir testé votre document al'aide d'un autre ordinateur. Si vous utilisez des
diapositives 35 mm, veuillez les placer dans un magasin circulaire. Veuillez indiquer la méthode de
présentation lors de la soumission de la communication.

Présentation d'affiches:

L es affiches peuvent étre placées le dimanche 2 novembre, et exposées pour toute la durée du con-
grés. Nous demandons aux présentateurs d'étre présents pour répondre aux questions particuliére-
ment pendant la séance prévue a cet effet le lundi 3 novembre de 11:30 — 12:15.

Informationsrequises : 1) Nom(s) de(s) auteur(s), 2) nom du présentateur, 3) adresse, 4) titre, 5)
résumé, 6) catégorie, 7) langue de la présentation, et 8) méthode de présentation (PowerPoint ou
diapositives 35 mm). Soumettez ces informations par courriel, sur disquette ou CD en format Word
ou WP. Les résumés ne doivent pas dépasser 70 mots. Si votre résumé dépasse la limite de mots
acceptée, les éditeurs se réservent le droit de le couper. Si possible, envoyez ces informations en
francais et en anglais. Tous les résumés seront publiés sur e site Internet.

Veuillez soumettre au président du programme scientifique :
Vince Nealis

Centre de foresterie du Pacifique

506 W. Burnside Rd., Victoria, CB, Canada V8Z 1M5
Téléphone: (250) 363-0663  Fac: (250) 363-0775

Courriel: vnealis@pfc.forestry.ca ou vnealis@nrcan.gc.ca
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Auditor’s Report: General Fund

Page 1.

AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members,
Entomological Society of Canada.

We have audited the non-consolidated balance sheet of the
Entomological Society of Canada as at December 31, 2002 and the non-
consolidated statements of revenue and expenditure - General Fund,
surplus and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Society's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

The Society accounts for its investment in a joint venture using the cost
method. Canadian generally accepted accounting principles require that
investments in joint ventures be accounted for using the proportionate
consolidation method. Had the proportionate consolidation method been
used, assets would have decreased by $512, liabilities would have
increased by $150 and equity would have increased by $30,917.

In our opinion, these non-consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Society as at
December 31, 2002 and the results of its operations and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles, except that they are not prepared on a
proportionate consolidated basis as described in note 5. As required by
the Companies Act, we report that, in our opinion, these principles have
been applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

“CCDA«( ’DL&@ ';. COMPO»A-( LLe

Chartered Accountants

Ottawa, Ontario,
March 7, 2003.

McCAy, DUFF
& COMPANY LLP

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

141 LAURIER AVE. WEST
6TH FLOOR
OTtrawa, ONTARIO KIP 513
TEL: (613) 236-2367
FaX: (613) 236-5041
1 (800) 267-6551
mccayduff @mecay duff.com
‘WEB: www.mccayduff.com

THOMAS W, HOWARTH, CA

BRYAN E. SULLIVAN, CA

ArBerT G. MoNsOUR, B.ADMN. CA
BLAIR E. DAvIDSON, B.Comwm, CFP, CA.

G. WARREN TRICKEY, B.Cavy, CA
ROBERT D. SHaNTZ, BMamh, CA
MARGARET N. EGaN, B.Aomm, CA, CLM.

Consutrant-ELDREN E. MCCONNELL, CA

Associated World-wide with ‘/i/_ Jeffreys Henry International
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Page 6.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
2002 2001
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net revenue (expenditure) for the year
- General Fund $ 36,679 $ 66,238
- Endowment Fund 1,377 ( 532)
- Building Fund ( 7,709 ( 10,288)
- Scholarship Fund 3.955 14,364
34,302 69,782
Items not involving cash
- amortization 4,970 5,177
- gain on sale of investments ( 300) -
38,972 74,959
Net change in non-cash working capital
balances related to operations
- accounts receivable 3,095 18,255
- accrued interest receivable ( 118) ( 143)
- prepaid expenses 2,282 ( 1,992)
- accounts payable and accrued liabilities ( 20,016) ( 13,718)
- deferred revenue (__18.456) 3.231
(_33213) 5,633
5,759 80,592
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments ( 52,097) ( 142,743)
Proceeds on disposal of investments 40,000 130,000
Decrease in Investment in Book Project 7.000 7.500

. 5.097) (5243

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

DURING THE YEAR 662 75,349
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 301.172 225.823
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 301,834 $_ 301,172
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash $ 218,633 $ 269,390
Term deposit 83.201 31.782

$__301.834 $__301.172

McCAY, DUFF & COMPANY LLP, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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Page 7.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2002

1. PURPOSE OF ORGANIZATION

The purpose of the Organization is to study, promote and advance the study of entomology

through meetings, symposia and the publication of original research results. Entomological

Society of Canada is incorporated without share capital under Part II of the Canada Companies

Act and is exempt from income taxes.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Accrual Basis of Accounting
Revenue and expenditure are recorded on the accrual basis, whereby they are reflected in
the accounts in the period in which they have been earned and incurred respectively,
whether or not such transactions have been finally settled with the receipt or payment of
money.

(b) Investments
Investments are recorded at cost, which is not in excess of market value.

(¢) Capital Assets and Amortization
Capital assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is being
claimed on the building at the rate of 4% on the reducing balance basis. All other capital
asset additions are expensed as they are incurred.

(d) Volunteer Services
The Organization receives volunteer services, the value of which cannot be reasonably
estimated. Therefore, no representation of these costs are reflected in the financial
statements.

(¢) Fund Accounting
The purpose of each fund is as follows:
General Fund
This fund accounts for the Society's primary operating activities.
Endowment Fund
The direction of the bequest, by which this fund was founded, states that without imposing

any legal obligation, hope is expressed that the principal will not be eroded and that the
income will be utilized to aid in the publication of the Canadian Entomologist.
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Page 8.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2002

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)
(¢) Fund Accounting (Cont'd.)
Building Fund

This fund was created through an appropriation from the General Fund to recognize the
expenses of the building independent of operational expenditures. Prior Board approval has
been given to appropriate from the General Fund an amount equal to the current year net
expenditure in the Building Fund, excluding amortization on the building.

Scholarship Fund

This fund was created with the objective of awarding scholarships for post-graduate
studies in entomology. The fund derives its revenue from donations and from the interest
on the invested capital. The money is awarded in three different forms: scholarship for
post-graduate studies, travel grant to subsidize student travel expenses incurred in relation
to their post-graduate studies; or the Keith Kevan Scholarship which is a scholarship for
post-graduate studies oriented toward systematics.

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk

The Society's financial instruments consist of cash, term deposit, accounts receivable,
investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and deferred revenue. Unless otherwise
noted, it is management's opinion that the Society is not exposed to significant interest rate or
credit risk.

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the exposure to the Society's financial instruments due to changes in exchange
rates. The Society is exposed to currency risk through its subscription revenues. The Society
monitors its foreign subscription rates to minimize its risk.

Fair Values

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash and term deposits, accounts
receivable, accrued interest receivable, investments, investment in book project and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to the immediate or short-term
maturities of these financial instruments.

McCAY, DUFF & COMPANY LLP, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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Page 9.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2002
4. INVESTMENTS
2002 2001

General Fund

Bonds, at cost (market value 2002 - $201,833,

2001 - $187,406) $_191.868 $_ 179,571
Endowment Fund

Bonds, at cost (market value 2002 - $70,767,

2001 - $71,408) $ 64,749 $__ 64749
Scholarship Fund

Bonds, at cost (market value 2002 - $105,644,

2001 - $106,235) $_ 100,010 $__99.910

5. INVESTMENT IN BOOK PROJECT

The Entomological Society has invested in the joint project for the publication of "Diseases and
Pests of the Vegetable Crop in Canada" in conjunction with the Canadian Phytopathological
Society. Both revenue and expenditure are to be shared in an equitable manner. The investment
is recorded using the cost method. For the December 31, 2002 fiscal period no accrual was
made for sales net of costs as it will be recognized as received. The remaining investment is
expected to be recovered over the next few years.

6. CAPITAL ASSETS

2002 2001
Accumulated
Cost Amortization Net Net
Land $ 40,000 $ - $ 40,000 $ 40,000
Building 202,799 83,512 119.287 124,257

$__242.799 $___83.512 $__159.287 $__164.257
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Page 10.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA
SCHEDULE OF ENDOWMENT FUND REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
2002 2001
REVENUE
Interest revenue $ 4,557 $ 4,305
EXPENDITURE
Page charges and reprints 3.180 4,837
NET REVENUE (EXPENDITURE)
FOR THE YEAR $ 1,377 $ 532

McCAY, DUFF & COMPANY LLP, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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Page 11.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA
SCHEDULE OF BUILDING FUND REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
2002 2001
Budget Actual Actual

REVENUE

Rental income $ 6,420 $ 6,585 $ 6,510
EXPENDITURE

Amortization . 5,420 4,970 5,177

Insurance 800 1,051 925

Property taxes 5,000 5,040 4,937

Repairs and maintenance 4,950 1,767 3,579

Utilities 2.000 1,466 2.180

18,170 14,294 16,798
NET RENTAL REVENUE (EXPENDITURE)
FOR THE YEAR $C 11,750) $C _ 7.709 $( 10,288

McCAY, DUFF & COMPANY LLP, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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Page 12.
ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA

SCHEDULE OF SCHOLARSHIP FUND REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

2002 2001

REVENUE

Interest revenue $ 6,930 $ 6,950

Recovery of award 165 769

Donations 4,710 15,183

Gain on sale of investment 150 -

11,955 22,902

EXPENDITURE

Scholarship awards and travel grants 8.000 8,538
NET REVENUE FOR THE YEAR $ 3,955 $ 14364

McCAY, DUFF & COMPANY LLP, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members, )
Entomological Society of Canada.

We have audited the balance sheet of the Entomological Society of
Canada - Scholarship Fund as at December 31, 2002. This financial
statement is the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement
based on our audit.

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In common with many charitable organizations, the Fund derives
revenue from cash donations, the completeness of which is not
susceptible to satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, our
verification of this revenue was limited to the amounts recorded in
the records of the organization and we were not able to determine
whether any adjustments might be necessary to donation revenue, net
revenue for the year, assets and surplus.

In our opinion, except for the effect of adjustments, if any, which we
might have determined to be necessary had we been able to satisfy
ourselves concerning the completeness of donations referred to in the
preceding paragraph, this financial statement presents fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Fund as at December
31, 2002 and the results of its operations for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

\“Ca.».{ DuF -‘v‘ Cnsmpmw( e
Chartered Accountants

Ottawa, Ontario,
March 7, 2003.

McCAY, DUFF
& COMPANY LLP

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

141 LAURIER AVE. WEST
6THFLOOR
OTTAWA, ONTARIO KIP 513
TEL: (613) 236-2367
Fax: (613) 236-5041
1 (800) 267-6551
mccayduff @mccayduff.com
‘WEB: www.mccayduff.com

THOMAS W, HOWARTH, CA

BRYAN E. SULLIVAN, CA

ALBERT G. MONSOUR, B.ApmiN; CA
BLAIR E. DAVIDSON, B.Com, CFP, CA
G. WARREN TRICKEY, B.Comm, CA
ROBERT D. SHANTZ, B.Mamy, CA

MARGARET N. EGAN, B.Aomy, CA, CLM.

ConsuLtanT- ELDREN E. MCCONNELL, CA
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ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA
SCHOLARSHIP FUND
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2002
ASSETS
2002 2001
CURRENT
Cash $ 27416 $ 32,256
Term deposit 4,283 4,137
Accrued interest receivable 1.843 1.832
33,542 38,225
INVESTMENTS (note 2) 100,010 99.910
$ 133,552 $_138.135
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Due to Entomological Society - General Fund $ - $ 8,538
SURPLUS
BALANCE - BEGINNING OF YEAR 129,597 115,233
Revenue
Interest 7,080 6,950
Recovery of award 165 769
Donations 4.710 15,183
11,955 22,902
Expenditure
Scholarship awards and travel grants 8.000 8.538
Net revenue for the year 3,955 14.364
BALANCE - END OF YEAR 133.552 129.597
$ 133,552 $_ 138135
Approved on behalf of the Board:
Director Director

McCAY, DUFF & COMPANY LLP, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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3.

ENTOMOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF CANADA
SCHOLARSHIP FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT

DECEMBER 31, 2002

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Accrual Basis of Accounting
Revenue and expenditure are recorded on the accrual basis, whereby they are reflected in
the accounts in the period in which they have been earned and incurred respectively,
whether or not such transactions have been finally settled with the receipt or payment of
money.

(b) Volunteer Services

The Fund receives volunteer services, the value of which cannot be reasonably estimated.
Therefore, no representation of these costs are reflected in the financial statement.

INVESTMENTS
2002 2001
Bonds, at cost (market value
2002 - $105,644, 2001 - $106,235) $_ 100,010 $__99.910

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Organization's financial instruments consist of cash, accrued interest receivable, term
deposits and investments. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the
Organization is not exposed to significant interest rate, exchange rate or credit risks arising from
these financial instruments.

Fair Values

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash, term deposits and accrued interest
receivable approximate fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturities of these
financial instruments. Long-term investments are recorded at cost with market value reported in
note 2.

STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND CASH FLOWS

These statements have not been prepared as all the relevant information is apparent from the
other financial statement.
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The Buzz / Bourdonnements

Paul Fields, Bulletin Editor / Rédacteur du Bulletin

letin and the additional articles that appear

inthisissue. Tonya M ousseau, the ESC Stu-
dent Representative, will be organizing a new
section of the Bulletin: The Student Wing. This
feature developed when Tonya and | asked the
students what they are interested in reading in
the Bulletin. One of the features in this section
will be the announcement of recently defended
theses. If you know of someone that has recent-
ly completed their graduate studies, please for-
ward the detailsto Tonya. The graduate students
have been a great help in a column that begins
thisissue, Lab Profile. This column will feature
an entomology lab, giving us an insight into the
inhabitants of the lab, both human and arthro-
pod. If you would like to share what is happen-
ing in your lab, please contact me.

Another new column is Tricks of the Trade.
Thegoal of thiscolumnisto sharethetechniques
we use every day in our labs, field sites, offices
and classrooms. We don't find these techniques
published in the scientific literature, but these
methods are crucial to studying insectsand com-
municating our results.

The Executive of the ESC has decided at their
April meeting that the Bulletin will be immedi-
ately accessible to al on the ESC web site. In
addition to the 1000 printed copies that go out
to our members and libraries around the world,
the Bulletin now has amuch wider audience. So
if you have an ideathat you would like to share
with the entomological community, | think the
Bulletin is an excellent format.

I hope you enjoy the new format of the Bul-

Bulletin of the Entomological Society of Canada

Jespére que le format amélioré du Bulletin
vous plaira, ainsi que les autres nouveautés que
vous trouverez dans ce numéro. Tonya Mous-
seau, représentante des étudiantsdela SEC, sera
responsable d'une nouvelle rubrique, L'aile étu-
diante, une idée qui a prisforme aprés un sond-
age des étudiants sur les sujets qu'ils aimeraient
voir dans le Bulletin. On y trouvera entre autres
des annonces de soutenance de thése récentes.
Si vous connaissez quelqu'un qui vient de ter-
miner ses études supérieures, communiquez les
détailsaTonya. Les étudiants gradués ont étéle
moteur d'une autre nouvelle rubrique appelée
Profil delabo, qui met en vedette un laboratoire
d'entomologie et ses habitants, tant humains
gu'arthropodes. Si vous avez envie de décrire
votre labo, communiquez avec moi.

Nous présentons aussi Trucs et astuces, dont
le but est d'informer au sujet des techniques uti-
lisées tous les jours dans nos labos, nos travaux
sur leterrain, nos bureaux et nos sallesde classe.
Jamais on ne voit ces techniques publiées dans
les revues scientifiques, pourtant il sagit de
méthodes essentielles & I'étude des insectes et a
la communication des résultats.

Lors de saréunion d'avril, le conseil exécutif
dela SEC a décidé que dorénavant |e Bulletin
sera accessible & tous dans notre site Web. Au
delades 1000 exemplairesimprimésal‘intention
des membres et de bibliotheques autour du
monde, e Bulletin rejoint maintenant un public
beaucoup plusvaste. Donc, s vousavez uneidée
géniale a transmettre a la communauté ento-
mologique, jecroisqueleBulletinvousfournira
un lieu excellent pour le faire.
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Officers of Affiliated Societies. 2002-2003
Dirigeants des sociétés associées, 2002-2003

Entomological Society of British Entomological Society of Manitoba
Columbia President Neil Holliday
President Lorraine MacLauchlan President-Elect John Gavloski
President-Elect Gail Anderson Past-President Paul Fields

Past President Rob Cannings Treasurer lan Wise

Editor (Journal) Ward Strong Newsletter Editor Nicole Lauro
Editor (Boreus) Cris Guppy Editor (Proceedings) Terry Galloway
Sec.-Treasurer Robb Bennett Member-at-Large Tonya Mousseau
B.C. Ministry of Forests, 7380 Puckle Rd. Secretary Noel White
Saanichton, BC V8M 1W4 Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

Tel: (250) 652-6593, Fax: (250) 652-4204 195 Dafoe Rd., Winnipeg, MB R3T 2M9
E-mail: robb.bennett@gems6.gov.bc.ca Tel: (204) 983-1452
http://www.harbour.com/commorgs/ESBC/ E-mail: nwhite@agr.gc.ca

http://home.cc.umanitoba.ca/esm/

Entomological Society of Alberta

President Derek Kanashiro Entomological Society of Ontario
Vice President Heather Proctor President Bruce Gill

Past President Hector Carcamo President-Elect Jim Corrigan
Editor (Proceedings) Andrea Kalischuk Past-President Barry Lyons
Editor (Website) Troy Danyk Treasurer Blair Helson
Secretary Mike Undershultz Editor (Journal) Yves Prévost
Treasurer Trevor Hindmarch Secretary David Hunt

#62, 52152 RR 225, Sherwood Park, AB T8C 1C6  Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada
E-mail: tdhindmar@yahoo.ca, Tel: (780) 732-7238 2585 Country Rd. 20, Harrow, ON NOR 1GO
http://www.biology.ualberta.ca/courses.hp/esalesahtm ~ Tel: (519) 738-2251 ext 427

E-mail: Huntd@agr.gc.ca
Entomological Society of Saskatchewan  hitp:/www.utoronto.ca/forest/eso/eso.htm
President Cedric Gillott

President-Elect Jack Gray Société d'entomologie du Québec

Treasurer Dwayne Hegedus Président Daniel Gingras

Newsletter Editors Wayne Goerzen Président-sortant Yves Mauffette
Brian Gaka Vice-président Michel Cusson

Secretary Larry Grenkow Trésorier Stéphane Villeneuve

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Rédacteur (Antennae)  Christine Jean

107 Science Place, Saskatoon, SK S7N 0X7 Secrétaire Annabelle Firlg

Tel: (306) 956-7293 Agriculture et Agroalimentaire Canada

E-mail: grenkowl @agr.gc.ca 430 Boul. Gouin

http://www.usask.ca/biol ogy/ess/ St-Jean-sur-Richelieu, QC J3B 3E6

E-mail: secretariat@seg.qc.ca
http://www.seq.qgc.cal
Editor’snote: Society Directorsand Officersare

reminded to check these lists, and submit cor- Acadian Entomological Society

. . - " President Andrei Alyokhin
rectlo?rs, including the names and positions of Vice-President Cassie Gibbs
new ofmeers. Treasurer Charlene Donahue
Secretary Charlene Donahue

Department of Biological Sciences
5722 Deering Hall, University of Maine
Orono, ME 04469 USA

E-mail: charlene.donahue@maine.gov
http://www.upei.ca/~aes/
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